
 

The Board of Commissioners reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in attendance at the 

meeting, including the Board of Commissioners, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to the public 
except by a majority vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The board can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt matter during a 

public meeting even if not advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them 

to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are required to contact the 
ADA Compliance Officer, at least three business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make reasonable 

accommodations for those persons. 

 

Page 1 of 1 

PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 
 

Agenda 

Tuesday, July 19, 2022 ◊ 6:30 PM 

Putnam County Administration Building – Room 203 

 

Opening 
1. Welcome - Call to Order 

2. Approval of Agenda 

3. Invocation 

4. Pledge of Allegiance (BS) 

5. Special Presentation - Chamber of Commerce 

 

Zoning Public Hearing 
6. Request by Rocker Construction, Inc. for conditional use at 368 Harmony Road [Map 072, Parcel 015, District 1] 

(staff-P&D) The applicant is requesting to withdraw this item without prejudice. 

7. Request by William & Barbara Vargo to rezone 10.60 acres at 230 Quesenberry Drive from R-1 to AG [Map 115B, 

Parcel 080,081,082,083, District 3] (staff-P&D) The applicant is requesting to withdraw this item without 

prejudice. 

 

Code of Ordinances Public Hearing 
8. Proposed adoption of changes to the Putnam County Code of Ordinances - Chapter 28 (Development Regulations) 

and Chapter 32 (Fire Protection and Prevention) 

 

Regular Business Meeting 
9. Public Comments 

10. Consent Agenda  

a. Approval of Minutes - July 1, 2022 Regular Meeting (staff-CC) 

b. Approval of Minutes - July 11, 2022 Budget Work Session (staff-CC) 

c. Approval of Minutes - July 12, 2022 Budget Work Session (staff-CC) 

d. Authorization for Chairman to sign Agreement for Section 5311 Transit Operating between Georgia Department 

of Transportation and Putnam County (staff-Transit) 

11. Request to begin the road abandonment process for Battlesmith Road (staff-PW) (Tabled from 6-21-2022 meeting) 

12. Awarding of Solicitation 22-36001-001 Ambulance (staff-EMS) 

13. Awarding of Solicitation 22-36001-002 Ambulance Remount (staff-EMS) 

14. Appointment to the Region Two Behavioral Health and Developmental Disabilities Planning Board (staff-CC) 

 

Reports/Announcements 
15. County Manager Report 

16. County Attorney Report 

17. Commissioner Announcements 

 

Closing 
18. Adjournment 

 

Post Meeting 

19. Presentation of new Aerial Fire Truck 

1



File Attachments for Item:

6. Request by Rocker Construction, Inc. for conditional use at 368 Harmony Road [Map 072, Parcel 015, 

District 1] (staff-P&D)

The applicant is requesting to withdraw this item without prejudice.

2



Letter of Intent 
 
Date: 7/1/2022 
 
To: Ms. Lisa Jackson 
Putnam County Planning and Zoning 
 
RE: Approximately 76 acres, located at 368 Harmony Road, Map 072 Parcel 015 (hereinafter 
"Property")  
 
 
The purpose of this letter is to withdraw our application without prejudice.  We intend to answer 
some questions for the Department of Planning and Zoning and present our application at the 
September meeting.  
 
Best Regards, 
 
 
 
 
Walter C. Rocker III 
Vice President 
Rocker Construction, Inc. 
 
 
 
 
 

3



     PUTNAM COUNTY PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
117 Putnam Drive, Suite B ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 

     Tel: 706-485-2776 ◊ 706-485-0552 fax ◊ www.putnamcountyga.us 
 

Staff Recommendations 

Thursday, July 07, 2022, ◊ 6:30 PM 

Putnam County Administration Building – Room 203 

 

      TO:        Board of Commissioners 

 

      FROM:  Lisa Jackson 

 

      RE:        Staff Recommendation for Public Hearing Agenda on 7/7/2022 

 

Request by Rocker Construction, Inc. for conditional use at 368 Harmony Road. [Map 072, Parcel 015, District 1]. * The applicant is 

requesting to withdraw without prejudice.  

 

Staff recommendation is for approval to withdraw without prejudice at 368 Harmony Road [Map 072, Part of Parcel 015, District 1]. 

 

The Planning & Zoning Commission’s recommendation is for approval to withdraw without prejudice at 368 Harmony Road [Map 072, 

Parcel 015, District 1]. 

 

4



 
5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



File Attachments for Item:

7. Request by William & Barbara Vargo to rezone 10.60 acres at 230 Quesenberry Drive from R-1 to AG 

[Map 115B, Parcel 080,081,082,083, District 3] (staff-P&D)

The applicant is requesting to withdraw this item without prejudice.

24



     PUTNAM COUNTY PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
117 Putnam Drive, Suite B ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 

     Tel: 706-485-2776 ◊ 706-485-0552 fax ◊ www.putnamcountyga.us 
 

Staff Recommendations 

Thursday, July 07, 2022, ◊ 6:30 PM 

Putnam County Administration Building – Room 203 

 

      TO:        Board of Commissioners 

 

      FROM:  Lisa Jackson 

 

      RE:        Staff Recommendation for Public Hearing Agenda on 7/7/2022 

 

Request by William & Barbara Vargo to rezone 10.60 acres at 230 Quesenberry Drive from R-1 to AG. [Map 115B, Parcel 

080,081,082,083, District 3].* The applicant is requesting to withdraw without prejudice.  

 

Staff recommendation is for approval to withdraw without prejudice at 230 Quesenberry Drive [Map 115B, 080,081,082,083, District 

3]. 

 

The Planning & Zoning Commission’s recommendation is for approval to withdraw without prejudice at 230 Quesenberry Drive [Map 

115B, Parcel 080,081,082,083, District 3]. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

25



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



File Attachments for Item:

8. Proposed adoption of changes to the Putnam County Code of Ordinances - Chapter 28 (Development 

Regulations) and Chapter 32 (Fire Protection and Prevention)

52



PROPOSED TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

 
    Created: 2022-06-16 11:41:51 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 43) 

 
Page 1 of 5 

EXPLANATION OF DOCUMENTS: 
 
Red language equals added text. 
Struck through language equals deleted text. 
 

Chapter 28 – DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 
 

Sec. 28-66. Required improvements. 
The requirements of this section shall apply to every major subdivision and site development and shall be 

planned for and provided by the developer by installation and/or payment prior to the approval of the final plat. 
Where indicated by an asterisk (*), the requirement is not necessarily applicable to a site development as shall be 
determined by the director in consultation with the developer.  

(a) * Street names. All streets shall be named and marked with MUTCD signs. Street names shall have the 
approval of the director and shall not duplicate, nor closely approximate phonetically or visually, the 
name of any other street in the county. A street that is in alignment with an existing street shall 
continue the name of the existing street.  

(b) Streets. All streets, whether public, private or curb cuts, shall be designed, constructed and paved in 
accordance with the standards set forth in this chapter.  
(1) No street or drainage structure shall be accepted by the county until it shall have been in public 

use for two years (two-year warranty period) and all repairs required by the county have been 
completed to the satisfaction of the county.  

(2) To initiate the two-year warranty period the county must conduct an inspection of all drainage 
structures, the road, grading, grassing, and the use of best management practices for soil and 
erosion control. The developer/owner must post a surety or cash bond per section 28-82 of this 
chapter.  

(3) It is the responsibility of the developer to maintain all streets until they are accepted by the 
county, and issue a surety bond to the county, to provide for such maintenance and repair, 
should the developer not be able to conduct the required repairs, as provided by this chapter.  

(4) The developer shall install all necessary traffic control signs, signals, and street name signs as 
required by the county or GDOT at its sole cost. In addition, the subdivider shall provide suitable 
ground cover, such as grass, on all unpaved areas of street right-of-way or other public areas. All 
grassing shall be done to DOT specifications.  

(5) If at the end of the two-year warranty period the road or drainage structures are not in good 
maintenance, the county will require the developer/owner to make such repairs to bring the 
road or drainage structures into good maintenance. If after 60 days notice from the county the 
developer/owner has not made the required repairs, the county may seek to call the bond or 
other surety.  

(c) Utilities. 
(1) Generally. All water, sewer, natural gas lines and hydrants shall be along street rights-of-way. The 

water, sewer and natural gas lines shall be underground and located on back slopes of rights-of-
way across drainage ditches away from pavements in order to prevent damage to the pavement 
during utility construction or maintenance. Only gravity-fed sewer lines may be placed under the 
pavement. Where required, because of topography, location of existing utilities or other factors, 
the director may allow the installation of utilities in other areas; however, the alternate location 
must be shown on the construction drawings and the as-built survey. Water and sewer lines must 
be on opposite sides of the street. Underground power lines must be located above and four feet 
to the side of either a water or sewer line.  

53



PROPOSED TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

 
    Created: 2022-06-16 11:41:51 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 43) 

 
Page 2 of 5 

(2) Water. If a public or private water system is proposed to service the area of the subdivision 
within two years of the approval of the subdivision, water mains shall be installed by the 
subdivider within the subdivision with connections to each lot in each phase extended to the lot 
lines. If a public water system is available within 1,000 feet of either a residential or commercial 
development, a hookup to such is required. If a public or private water system is not available, 
the subdivider shall provide a water supply through a community water system or individual 
wells in conformity with the regulations of the county health department and this chapter.  

(3) Sewer. If a public sanitary sewer system is proposed to service the area of the subdivision within 
two years of the approval of the subdivision, sewer mains shall be installed by the subdivider 
within the subdivision with connections to each lot in each phase extended to the lot line. If a 
public sewer system is not available, the subdivider shall provide a community sewage collection 
and treatment system or individual septic tank systems in conformity with the regulations of the 
county health department and the state department of natural resources.  

(4) Fire hydrants (see chapter 32-19 of the Putnam County Code of Ordinances).  
(d) Storm drainage. 

(1) Design. Lots shall be laid out so as to provide positive drainage away from all buildings, and lot 
drainage patterns for the area. Drainage shall be designed so as to avoid concentration of storm 
drainage water from each lot to adjacent lots and any drainage feature must be capable of 
handling a 25-year storm event. Sensitive or high-risk areas will require handling larger storm 
events, which will be the responsibility of the designing engineer. Multifamily, commercial and 
industrial developments must take particular care in the design of the parking facilities and 
buildings with respect to the amount and direction of the runoff.  

(2) Design certification. A professional engineer must certify that the proposed storm drainage 
improvements and other proposed construction is adequate, complies with the requirements of 
this chapter, and complies with accepted engineering practice.  

(3) Connection to existing systems. If a storm system is located reasonably near the proposed 
development or subdivision, then the development or subdivision must contain an underground 
storm drainage system, which will be connected to the existing system. Should a storm drainage 
system not exist then adequate surface drainage facilities shall be installed. The professional 
engineer must ensure that the existing system is capable of accepting the additional stormwater 
without surcharging or damaging the existing system.  

(4) Stormwater management. Stormwater detention facilities or other forms of suitable storage 
features will be required where more than a five-percent increase in runoff occurs between the 
calculated pre-developed flows and the calculated post-developed flows. In addition, 
detention/retention facilities shall be required if the downstream facilities are not adequate to 
allow increased runoff. If the facility is deemed to be inadequate, the developer can request 
permission to modify (at his expense) the downstream facilities to allow a reduction in detention 
facilities as long as no downstream facilities or lands of others are harmed by the change. The 
maximum predevelopment rational method runoff coefficient ("C" factor) to be utilized while 
calculating flows shall be 0.25 for flat and rolling terrain and 0.30 for hilly (seven percent plus) 
terrain. Post development "C" factors to be utilized shall be related to the density of the 
development and amount of impervious area included in the development. All "C" factors shall 
be in accordance with accepted Rational Method Runoff Tables published. Calculations utilizing 
the Soil Conservation Service (SCS) method of determining the runoff shall utilize the SCS soil 
group tables and covering to determine the SCS CN number to be used in the calculations. 
Calculations shall be shown for the two-, five-, ten-, and 25-year storm events. Emergency 
spillways shall be sized to handle a 100-year storm event. For pre-developed flows, the time of 
concentration (TOC) shall not be less than five minutes.  

(5) Roadside ditches. Front and back slopes for roadside ditches shall be 3:1 or flatter. Ditches shall 
be designed to handle at least a 25-year storm event and velocities within the ditch are 

54



PROPOSED TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

 
    Created: 2022-06-16 11:41:51 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 43) 

 
Page 3 of 5 

recommended to be held below two feet per second. Velocities above two feet per second will 
require additional stabilization practices. Erosion matting meeting DOT specifications is 
recommended and may be required within any ditch. Check dams or other suitable structures 
shall be placed in accordance with the Manual for Erosion and Sediment Control in Georgia, 
latest edition.  

(6) Drainage structures. Where drainage pipes, curb inlets, junction boxes, headwalls, and other 
structures are utilized, these shall conform to the Georgia DOT Standard Detail Manual, latest 
edition.  

(7) Curb and gutter. Curb and gutter meeting Georgia DOT Standard Detail Manual specifications is 
recommended for any new development. In residential areas, curb and gutter may either be 18 
to 24-inch standup ("L" backing) or rollback type. In commercial and industrial areas, 30-inch 
standup is required. Associated junction boxes, piping, transitions, and other appurtenances shall 
meet Georgia DOT specifications.  

(e) Development along arterial or collector streets. Where a subdivision abuts or contains an arterial or 
collector street or railroad right-of-way the following are required:  
(1) In a village, commercial or industrial-manufacturing zoning district of ten acres or more, the 

following shall apply: a two-lane access road parallel to the arterial or collector, separated from 
the arterial or collector by a ten-foot wide landscaped strip through which access shall be 
provided at intervals of no less than 500 feet or whenever coincident with a median break should 
one exist in the arterial or collector street shall be required.  

(2) In residential zoning districts (including multifamily), a 20-foot wide nonaccess buffer along the 
entire length of the back of the lots abutting an arterial or collector street is required.  

(3) Setbacks from arterial roads: 50 feet.  
(f) Lot sizes. All lots shall conform to the Putnam County Zoning Ordinance. The arrangement of the 

subdivision lots and design of the development and the required improvements, however, are 
controlled by this chapter.  

(g) * Lot lines. All subdivision side lot lines shall be perpendicular or radial to street lines, unless otherwise 
approved by the director in furtherance of creative design models.  

(h) * Double and reverse frontage lots. Double frontage and reverse frontage lots shall be required to 
provide separation of development from an arterial street or to overcome specific disadvantages of 
topography and orientation.  

(i) Easements. The director of the planning and development department may require easements having 
an adequate width and located along rear and/or side lot lines for utility lines, drainage and 
underground cables, with provision for access from a public way. The director may also require access 
easements to existing parcels not otherwise fronting on a public road.  

(j) Reserve strips. Reserve strips that control access to street and public grounds shall be permitted only 
when the reserve strip is deeded to the county.  

(k) Deceleration lanes and center turn lanes. 
(1) Deceleration lanes or a center turn lane are required if sight distances required by this chapter 

cannot be achieved or the number of dwelling units in a development exceeds 50, at each 
entrance to a multifamily or nonresidential development project intersecting a county collector 
or a county arterial road, or if the director deems either a deceleration or turn lane or both are 
necessary to protect the safety of the public.  

(2) Deceleration and turn lane construction standards.  
a. Deceleration lanes shall be designed and installed in accordance with the Georgia 

Department of Transportation Regulations for Driveway and Encroachment Control. The 
lane shall be 12 feet in width exclusive of the curb and gutter width. Additional right-of-
way to accommodate the deceleration lane and a ten-foot shoulder shall be dedicated by 
the developer to the county.  

55



PROPOSED TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

 
    Created: 2022-06-16 11:41:51 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 43) 

 
Page 4 of 5 

b. Left turn lanes may be required if the average daily traffic (ADT) exceeds 2,000 vehicles per 
day or if the director has knowledge of other information that would warrant a detailed 
traffic impact study as established by the Georgia Department of Transportation to 
determine if a left turn is needed. The study shall be prepared in accordance with the 
Georgia Department of Transportation Regulations for Driveway and Encroachment 
Control.  

c. Other project access improvements as deemed necessary by the director of the planning 
and development department in addition to a required deceleration lane in order to ensure 
adequate site access, pedestrian access, convenience, and safety to the motoring public 
may be required.  

(l) Minimum water main sizes. To allow for fire protection, all plans for development must meet all 
applicable fire protection codes.  All water mains servicing any development shall be no less than 8” 
in diameter. 

 
(Res. of 7-17-2007(2); Ord. of 3-15-2016(1) ) 
 

Chapter 32 – FIRE PROTECTION AND PREVENTION 
 

Sec. 32-19. Fire hydrants. 
(a) Ownership. All fire hydrants installed within the unincorporated area of Putnam County shall be owned by 

and under the direct supervision of the respective owners. Owners shall be required to provide the Putnam 
County Fire Chief with a complete listing of the number and location of all fire hydrants under their 
supervision.  

(b) Fire hydrants required. All public well or water supply systems, as defined in this Code, shall provide fire 
hydrants as a primary means of fire suppression. This requirement shall apply to newly constructed systems 
and any expansion of existing systems where such expansion would add service for 15 or more connections 
or add service for 25 or more persons on a daily basis whether such expansion is completed at one time or in 
several phases. Owners or operators of existing public well or water supply systems are hereby prohibited 
from removing fire hydrants currently installed in said systems except as provided below. Existing public well 
or water supply systems which do not include fire hydrants shall not be required to install fire hydrants 
unless the system is expanded as provided above.  

(c) Fire hydrant standards. All fire hydrants incorporated into a public well or water supply system shall be 
installed and maintained by the respective owners in accordance with the most recent version of the 
International Fire Code including any appendices as adopted by Putnam County. Said standards include, but 
are not limited to, minimal distance between fire hydrants, location with respect to public right-of-way, 
design and construction specifications, and pressure/flow capacity.  All fire hydrants shall be fitted with a 
Storz nozzle, a non-threaded outlet connector able to allow quarter-turn connection, or comparable 
connector, as approved by the Putnam County Fire Chief.  Such fire hydrants shall be serviced by water 
mains no less than 8” in diameter. 

(d) Fire chief granted authority. The Putnam County Fire Chief, or his/her designee, is hereby granted the 
authority to inspect, test and approve all fire hydrants situated within the unincorporated area of Putnam 
County. The Putnam County Fire Chief shall keep all records of the location and test results of all fire 
hydrants under this authority. The fire chief, or his/her designee, shall indicate the result of testing by color-
coding the fire hydrant according to the International Fire Code standards. Newly installed fire hydrants shall 
be tested within 180 days of installation. Existing fire hydrants shall be tested at intervals of no less than two 
years. No owner of a fire hydrant included under this authority shall interfere with or restrict the ability of 
the Putnam County Fire Chief to exercise this authority.  

(e) Fire hydrant out-of-service. The owner of any fire hydrant under their supervision which is known to be 
inoperative or out of service for any reason shall promptly report the same to the Putnam County Fire Chief. 
Any fire hydrant found, on testing, to fail to meet the standards set forth above shall be designated as out-

56



PROPOSED TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE PUTNAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

 
    Created: 2022-06-16 11:41:51 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 43) 

 
Page 5 of 5 

of-service. The Putnam County Fire Chief shall notify the owner, in writing, of any fire hydrant designated as 
being out-of-service within ten days of such designation. The notification may be by personal service or U.S. 
Postal Service, registered letter.  

(f) Owner duty to repair. Upon notification of a fire hydrant being out-of-service, it shall be the duty of the 
owner to repair or replace the defective fire hydrant so as to place it back in service within 90 days of 
receiving notification. Alternatively, at the option of the owner, the defective fire hydrant may be physically 
removed from the system, providing however that the distance between the remaining, approved fire 
hydrants be no less than 1,000 feet.  

(g) Violations. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Code, any violation of this code section shall be 
punishable by a minimum fine of $50.00. Each day the violation continues shall constitute a separate offense.  

(Ord. of 12-18-2007; Ord. of 3-18-2008; Ord. of 1-19-2016 ) 
 
 

57



File Attachments for Item:

10. Consent Agenda

a. Approval of Minutes - July 1, 2022 Regular Meeting (staff-CC)

b. Approval of Minutes - July 11, 2022 Budget Work Session (staff-CC)

c. Approval of Minutes - July 12, 2022 Budget Work Session (staff-CC)

d. Authorization for Chairman to sign Agreement for Section 5311 Transit Operating between Georgia 

Department of Transportation and Putnam County (staff-Transit)

58



Draft Minutes Page 1 of 4  

July 1, 2022   

 

PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 
 

Minutes 

Friday, July 1, 2022 ◊ 9:00 AM 

Putnam County Administration Building – Room 203 

 

The Putnam County Board of Commissioners met on Friday, July 1, 2022 at approximately 9:00 

a.m. in the Putnam County Administration Building, 117 Putnam Drive, Room 203, Eatonton, 

Georgia. 

 

PRESENT  

Chairman Billy Webster 

Commissioner Gary McElhenney 

Commissioner Daniel Brown 

Commissioner Bill Sharp 

Commissioner Jeff Wooten 

 

STAFF PRESENT 

County Attorney Barry Fleming 

County Manager Paul Van Haute 

County Clerk Lynn Butterworth 

 

 

Opening 
1. Welcome - Call to Order 

Chairman Webster called the meeting to order at approximately 9:00 a.m. 

(Copy of agenda made a part of the minutes on minute book page __________.) 

 

2. Approval of Agenda 

Motion to approve the Agenda. 

Motion made by Commissioner Sharp, Seconded by Commissioner Wooten. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner McElhenney, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Wooten 

 

3. Invocation - Rev. Dr. Ford G'Segner 

Rev. Dr. Ford G'Segner gave the invocation. 

 

4. Pledge of Allegiance (BS) 

Commissioner Sharp led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

 

59



Draft Minutes Page 2 of 4  

July 1, 2022   

 

5. Special Presentation - ESG Engineering 

Mr. Charlie Bridges with ESG gave a presentation on the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) 

update.  Mr. Steve Hersey commented on the Dance Road Loop portion of the project and the 

2015 agreement between Putnam County and EPWSA to lease the water line to the Authority.  

He submitted a copy of the agreement. 

(Copy of presentation and agreement made a part of the minutes on minute book pages 

__________ to __________.) 

 

Code of Ordinances Public Hearing 
6. Proposed adoption of changes to the Putnam County Code of Ordinances - Chapter 28 

(Development Regulations) 

No one signed in to speak for or against the proposed changes. 

Staff recommendation was to insert 25 years into the blank in Section 28-40 (a) (3). 

Motion to adopt changes to the Putnam County Code of Ordinances – Chapter 28 

(Development Regulations with 25 years added to Section 28-40 (a) (3). 

Motion made by Commissioner Brown, Seconded by Commissioner McElhenney. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner McElhenney, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Wooten 

(Copy of changes made a part of the minutes on minute book pages __________ to 

__________.) 

 

Regular Business Meeting 
7. Public Comments 

None 

 

8. Consent Agenda 

a. Approval of Minutes - June 21, 2022 Regular Meeting (staff-CC) 

b. Approval of 2022 Alcohol License (staff-CC) 

Motion to approve the Consent Agenda. 

Motion made by Commissioner McElhenney, Seconded by Commissioner Sharp. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner McElhenney, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Wooten 

(Copy of alcohol license made a part of the minutes on minute book page __________.) 

 

9. Approval of Right-of-Way Permit Application from Southern Company (staff-CM) 

Motion to approve the Right-of-Way Permit Application from Southern Company 

Motion made by Commissioner Wooten, Seconded by Commissioner McElhenney. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner McElhenney, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Wooten 

(Copy of application and permit made a part of the minutes on minute book pages __________ 

to __________.) 

 

 

 

 

 

60



Draft Minutes Page 3 of 4  

July 1, 2022   

 

10. Appointments to the Board of Assessors (staff-CC) 

Chairman Webster advised that the two vacancies will be handled separately. 

 

For the full four-year term: 

Commissioner Brown, seconded by Commissioner Sharp, nominated Virginia Daley for 

appointment to the Board of Assessors for a full four-year term. 

 

Commissioner Wooten, seconded by Commissioner Brown, nominated Claude Morris for 

appointment to the Board of Assessors for a full four-year term. 

 

Chairman Webster called for the vote.  Commissioner McElhenney voted for Virginia 

Daley.  Commissioner Brown voted for Virginia Daley.  Commissioner Sharp voted for 

Virginia Daley.  Commissioner Wooten voted for Virginia Daley. 

 

For the remaining portion of the unexpired vacant position: 

Ms. Shona Bales was nominated for appointment to the Board of Assessors for the 

remaining portion of the unexpired vacant position. 

Nomination made by Commissioner Sharp, Seconded by Commissioner Brown. 

Voting Yea for Shona Bales: Commissioner McElhenney, Commissioner Brown, 

Commissioner Sharp, Commissioner Wooten 
 

Chairman Webster invited Mr. Rufus Adair, reporter for The Eatonton Messenger to introduce 

Mr. Ian Tocher, the new editor of The Eatonton Messenger. 

 

Reports/Announcements 
11. County Manager Report 

County Manager Van Haute reported the following: 

 Budget Work Sessions will be held on July 11 & 12 

 The Groundbreaking Ceremony for the new Fire/EMS Station and Coroner’s Office will 

be July 5 at 10:00 a.m. 

 The new Aerial Firetruck is here at Station 10 

 Happy 4th of July 

 

12. County Attorney Report 

No report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

61



Draft Minutes Page 4 of 4  

July 1, 2022   

 

13. Commissioner Announcements 

Commissioner McElhenney: none 

 

Commissioner Brown: none 

 

Commissioner Sharp: announced that tonight is the last performance of Godspell at the Plaza 

Arts Center and recommended that everyone go see it. 

 

Commissioner Wooten: shared that he received a phone call bragging on the Public Works 

Department and expressed his thanks for all they do. 

 

Chairman Webster: expressed his appreciation to the Public Works Department for filling a 

pothole on Little River Trail. 

 

Closing 
14. Adjournment 

Motion to adjourn the meeting. 

Motion made by Commissioner McElhenney, Seconded by Commissioner Sharp. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner McElhenney, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Wooten 

 

 

Meeting adjourned at approximately 9:43 a.m. 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

Lynn Butterworth      Billy Webster 

County Clerk       Chairman 

62



Draft Budget Work Session Minutes Page 1 of 2  

July 11, 2022   

 

PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 
 

Budget Work Session 

Minutes 

Monday, July 11, 2022 ◊ 9:00 AM 

Putnam County Administration Building – Room 204 

 

The Putnam County Board of Commissioners met on Monday, July 11, 2022 at approximately 

9:00 AM in the Putnam County Administration Building, 117 Putnam Drive, Room 204, 

Eatonton, Georgia for a Budget Work Session. 

 

PRESENT  

Chairman Billy Webster 

Commissioner Gary McElhenney 

Commissioner Daniel Brown 

Commissioner Jeff Wooten 

 

ABSENT 

Commissioner Bill Sharp 

 

STAFF PRESENT 

County Manager Paul Van Haute 

County Clerk Lynn Butterworth 

Finance Director Linda Cook 

 

 

Opening 
1. Call to Order 

Chairman Webster called the meeting to order at approximately 9:00 a.m. 

(Copy of agenda made a part of the minutes on minute book page __________.) 

 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

Clerk of Court Trevor Addison led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

Work Session 
3. Budget Discussions 

Various budget requests were discussed.  Comments were made by Trevor Addison for Clerk of 

Superior Court, Board of Equalization, State Court, and Juvenile Court; Stacy Brown for 

Eatonton Public Library; Keith Fielder for County Extension Service; Walt Rocker for Putnam 

Development Authority; Chuck Anglin for Tax Assessors; Dorothy Adams for Magistrate Court; 

63



Draft Budget Work Session Minutes Page 2 of 2  

July 11, 2022   

 

Michael Gailey for State Court Judge; Brandy Huskins for Probate Court; Lynn Butterworth for 

District Commissioners; Paul Van Haute for Executive Officers. 

 

The work session recessed for lunch at approximately 11:48 a.m. 

The work session reconvened at approximately 1:05 p.m. 

 

Discussions continued with Lonnie & Susan Campbell for Oconee Springs Park Fund; Cynthia 

Miller for Human Resources (handout-holidays); Linda Cook for Finance Department, Legal 

Services, District Attorney & Juvenile Prosecutors Fund, Solicitor's Office & Victim Witness 

Assistance Fund, Jail Fund, Law Library Fund, Drug Education Fund, Regional Development 

Fees and Solid Waste Fund; Terrell Abernathy for Tax Commissioner;  Lisa Jackson for 

Planning & Development / P&Z Commission / Code Enforcement.  No action was taken. 

(Copy of handout made a part of the minutes on minute book page __________.) 

 

Closing 
4. Adjournment 

Chairman Webster adjourned the work session at approximately 3:50 p.m.  

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

Lynn Butterworth      Billy Webster 

County Clerk       Chairman 

64



Draft Budget Work Session Minutes Page 1 of 2  

July 12, 2022   

 

PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 
 

Budget Work Session 

Minutes 

Tuesday, July 12, 2022 ◊ 9:00 AM 

Putnam County Administration Building – Room 204 

 

The Putnam County Board of Commissioners met on Tuesday, July 12, 2022 at approximately 

9:00 AM in the Putnam County Administration Building, 117 Putnam Drive, Room 204, 

Eatonton, Georgia for a Budget Work Session. 

 

PRESENT  

Chairman Billy Webster 

Commissioner Gary McElhenney 

Commissioner Daniel Brown 

Commissioner Jeff Wooten 

 

ABSENT 

Commissioner Bill Sharp 

 

STAFF PRESENT 

County Manager Paul Van Haute 

County Clerk Lynn Butterworth 

Finance Director Linda Cook 

 

 

Opening 
1. Call to Order 

Chairman Webster called the meeting to order at approximately 9:00 a.m. 

(Copy of agenda made a part of the minutes on minute book page __________.) 

 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

Fire Chief Thomas McClain led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

Work Session 
3. Budget Discussions 

Various budget requests were discussed.  Comments were made by Thomas McClain for Fire 

Stations; Brad Murphey for Ambulance Service; Howard Sills for Sheriff, Jail, Emergency 

Management, & E911; Hollis Harrison for Coroner; Lynne Laseter for Board of Elections & 

Registration; Tony Clack and Anthony Frazier for Public Works; Scott Haley for Recreation 

Department; Michael Benton for Uncle Remus Golf Course (handout). 

65



Draft Budget Work Session Minutes Page 2 of 2  

July 12, 2022   

 

 

The work session recessed for lunch at approximately 12:30 p.m. 

The work session reconvened at approximately 1:20 p.m. 

 

Discussions continued with Dianne Pounds for Public Transit Systems; Christine Tillman for 

Animal Services; Stephanie McMullen for Public Relations and Public Buildings. 

(Copy of handout made a part of the minutes on minute book pages __________ to 

___________.) 

 

Closing 
4. Adjournment 

Chairman Webster adjourned the work session at approximately 2:27 p.m.  

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

Lynn Butterworth      Billy Webster 

County Clerk       Chairman 

66



Russell R. McMurry, P.E., Commissioner 
One Georgia Center
600 West Peachtree NW 
Atlanta, GA 30308
(404) 631-1990 Main Office

July 1, 2022

Mr. Billy Webster, Chairman 
PUTNUM COUNTY BOC
117 Putnam Drive
Eatonton, GA 31024

In Re: FTA 5311 – 2023 Operating
Project Number – T007256
Contract Amount - $143,600.00 (Federal)

Dear Chairman Webster:

Enclosed for execution by PUTNUM COUNTY BOC is an electronic contract for 2023 to assist with the 
operation of your public transit system under the FTA’s 5311 Rural Assistance Program. The project 
contains 50% federal operating funds in the amount of $143,600.00 and a local match of 50% in the 
amount of $143,600.00.

Instructions on how to complete the electronic contract have been attached for your convenience. 
Please refer to these instructions as needed to complete the electronic process.

After the contract has been fully executed, the Department will issue an electronic notification 
indicating the contract process has been completed along with a copy of the executed contract. The 
contract is not valid until your agency receives a written “Notice to Proceed” from GDOT’s Intermodal
office. PUTNUM COUNTY BOC must comply with all applicable FTA regulations, policies, procedures and 
directives, specifically CFR 4220.1F as it relates to third-party contracting and procurement.

If you have further questions, please do not hesitate to contact your District PTS/Planner Kim Smith, at 
478-247-9199.

Sincerely,

Patricia Smith
Transit Program Manager

PS:MS
Enclosures

complete the electronic havehave beenbeen attachedattached forfor

67



2

Step 1

Step 2

Step 3

Step 4

ELECTRONIC CONTRACT PROCESSING INSTRUCTIONS
Transit Program Subrecipient Contracts

The Department will send via email the electronic contract to [Reviewer #1] for review. Once [Reviewer 
#1] has reviewed the document, the contract will automatically forward to the Chairperson, Mayor, 
Executive Director, Sole Commissioner, or City Manager’s office for signature & county/city seal. Once 
the authorized official’s signature & seal has been loaded onto the pages, the system will prompt to 
select “adopt and sign” then “finish”. The system will automatically send the contract to the designated 
witness for signature.

Once the designated witness has signed, the system will then automatically send the contract to the 
Notary to upload his/her signature and notary seal to complete the agreement. The signature and seal 
will have to be on a single line. NOTE: To save the signature and seal, take a white sheet of paper, sign it 
and affix the seal adjacent to the signature. Scan the signature and seal and save to the desktop or take 
a picture of the signature and seal using a cell phone camera and send to email to save on desktop. The
County/City “Seal” is required on this document.

NOTE: PLEASE REMEMBER TO CROP SIGNATURE WITH SEAL

Next, the system will give an option to “upload” the signature and the county/city “Seal.” The signature
and county/city seal have to be uploaded together, as one document, and will need to be in a .jpeg or
.bmp format. A .pdf format is not acceptable. Once the signature and seal have been uploaded 
successfully, the system will prompt to select “adopt and sign” then “finish.”

To assist you further, there is also an instructional video on how to upload the County/City Seal. Please 
use this link to view: http://www.dot.ga.gov/PS/Training/ElectronicSignature

Once the signatures and seals have been successfully uploaded, the contract will be electronically 
returned to GDOT to complete the execution process.

If there are any questions or if clarification is needed, please call our office BEFORE selecting “Adopt 
and Sign.” There is a “Cancel” button to select that will allow the contract to be saved for later.
Selecting “Adopt and Sign” before the signature and seal is attached will cause the contract to be 
“rejected” and the entire electronic contract signing process will have to be started again from the 
beginning.

give anan optionoption to “upload”“upload” thethe signaturesignature andand thethe county/citycounty/city “Seal.”“Seal.”
havehave toto bebe uploadeduploaded together,together, as oneone document,document, andand willwill needneed to

68



3

AGREEMENT 

FOR

SECTION 5311- TRANSIT OPERATING

BETWEEN

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

STATE OF GEORGIA

AND

PUTNUM COUNTY BOC

PROJECT ID NUMBER: T007256

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into on ( the “Effective Date”) by and between the 

GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, an agency of the State of Georgia, hereinafter called the 

"DEPARTMENT", and PUTNUM COUNTY BOC, hereinafter called the "SPONSOR" (the “Agreement”).

WHEREAS, 49 U.S.C. Section 5311, provides for transit operating, planning, and capital assistance for 

public transportation services to non-urbanized areas in the state of Georgia (the “State”); and

WHEREAS, in a letter to the Federal Transit Administration ("FTA"), and the Federal Highway 

Administration, ("FHWA"), dated January 24, 1979, the Governor designated the DEPARTMENT as the recipient 

agency for Section 5311 funding; and

WHEREAS, Section 5311 funding is subject to the contractual provisions set forth under FTA Circular 

9040.1G , FTA Circular 4220.1F, unless superseded by 2 CFR Part 200, and certain Standard Terms & Conditions 

required by USDOT, whether or not expressly stated in these contract provisions; and

WHEREAS, the SPONSOR has stated that transit financial assistance is needed for transportation services 

in its non-urbanized area, and it would, therefore, perform certain duties and provide resources in order to receive 

said Section 5311 Funds of the Federal Transit Act; and

WHEREAS, in reliance on said SPONSOR, the DEPARTMENT has applied to FTA for said Section 5311 

funds, and in so doing states that the required duties would be discharged pursuant to a written contract between 

the parties; and

WHEREAS, the funding amount awarded to SPONSOR by DEPARTMENT is set forth herein in EXHIBIT 

A—PROJECT SUMMARY; and

WHEREAS, under Sections 32-9-1 and 32-9-2 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated (“O.C.G.A.”), 

the DEPARTMENT is authorized to participate in such an undertaking;

GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, an agency of the State of Georgia, hereinafter called the TRANSPORTATION, an agency of the State of Georgia, hereinafter called the 

"DEPARTMENT", and PUTNUM COUNTY BOC, hereinafter called the "SPONSOR" (the “Agreement”)."DEPARTMENT", and PUTNUM COUNTY BOC, hereinafter called the "SPONSOR" (the “Agreement”).

69



4

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants made, it is agreed by 

and between the DEPARTMENT and the SPONSOR that:

ARTICLE I

SCOPE AND PROCEDURE

Grants made under this Agreement are for the purpose of (A) Operating Assistance and/or (B) Capital Projects as 

specified in this Agreement and more specifically, as set forth in Exhibit A of this Agreement, and as requested by the 

SPONSOR’s 2023 - Section 5311 REQUEST FOR FUNDING, on file at the DEPARTMENT and incorporated by 

reference as if fully set out herein. The terms “Operating Assistance,” “Capital Projects,” “Mobility Management” 

Activities and “Capital Expenditures” shall have the meanings set forth in the FTA Circular 9040.1G.

A. Operating Assistance

(a) This Agreement covers the obligations of the DEPARTMENT and the SPONSOR in connection with 

the FTA'S granting Section 5311 funds to the DEPARTMENT for operating assistance for public 

transportation in the PUTNUM COUNTY BOC area. SPONSOR is responsible for carrying out the 

PROJECT, as set forth more fully in the Agreement and as set forth in the current Master Agreement 

between the DEPARTMENT and FTA. The SPONSOR agrees to comply with all the terms and 

conditions required by FTA.

(b) The SPONSOR shall use the funds provided by the DEPARTMENT to operate a public transportation 

service in the PUTNUM COUNTY BOC area and the SPONSOR agrees to provide from local funding 

sources, excluding all available federal funds, funds to pay its local matching share of the cost of 

operating a public transportation service for the period of this Agreement.

(c) The SPONSOR agrees that it, or any operator of public transportation on its behalf, will not engage in 

school bus operations, exclusively for the transportation of students or school personnel, in competition 

with private school bus operators, except as provided under Section 3(g) of the Federal Transit Act, and 

published in FTA regulations on school bus operations.

(d) The SPONSOR agrees that it, or any operator of public transportation acting on its behalf, will not 

engage in charter bus operations outside the area within which it provides regularly scheduled public 

transportation services, except as provided under Section 3(f) of the Federal Transit Act, and published 

in FTA regulations on charter bus operations.

(e) The SPONSOR and any mass transportation operator under it will conform to the reporting system in 

FEDERAL ACQUISITION REGULATIONS, SUBPART 31.6.

This Agreement covers the obligations of the DEPARTMENT and the This Agreement covers the obligations of the DEPARTMENT and the SPONSOR in connection with SPONSOR in connection with 

the FTA'S granting Section 5311 funds to the DEPARTMENT for operating assistance for public the FTA'S granting Section 5311 funds to the DEPARTMENT for operating assistance for public 

70



5

(f) The SPONSOR will make all purchases of goods and services under this Agreement through FTA’s 

Third-Party Contracting Requirements as set forth in FTA Circular 4220.1F.

(g) The SPONSOR shall prohibit its employees from using their positions for a purpose that is or gives the 

appearance of being motivated by a desire for private gain, for themselves or others, particularly, those 

with whom they have family, business, or other ties.

(h) The SPONSOR shall comply with all relevant Federal and State laws and regulations relating to the 

Section 5311 Program, as well as those regulations and requirements included in the Federal Office of 

Management and Budget Uniform Grant Guidance, 2 CFR Part 200, and any applicable provisions of 

the Hatch Act.

(i) The SPONSOR shall keep accurate records in a manner approved by the DEPARTMENT, and shall 

submit to the DEPARTMENT, upon request, such information as is required in order to assure 

compliance.

B. Capital Expenditures

(a) Acquisition of Vehicles and Equipment

(1) Pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, the DEPARTMENT shall acquire through its 

procurement process for the SPONSOR the following item(s):

VEHICLES

(2) Upon acquisition of the vehicle listed in paragraph (a) (1) above; the DEPARTMENT shall transfer 

title ownership in said vehicle to the SPONSOR. The DEPARTMENT shall place a lien and hold 

physical possession of all vehicle titles.

(3) The DEPARTMENT shall participate in the purchase of small capital items or service by the 

SPONSOR of:

SMALL CAPITAL ITEMS/PLANNING/MOBILITY MANAGEMENT

(4) Prior to the purchase of any small capital items or services the SPONSOR shall obtain prior 

approval from the DEPARTMENT for the amount and items/service purchased.

NANA

NANA

71



6

i. The SPONSOR shall accept and retain ownership in lieu of title to said PROJECT and shall 

provide from local funding sources excluding all available federal funds, funds to pay its share 

of the PROJECT cost. The SPONSOR shall show the DEPARTMENT as first lienholder on 

the Title of Certificate for the duration of the life of any rolling stock or support vehicle.

ii. During the period of contract performance, the SPONSOR shall use the PROJECT rolling stock, 

support vehicle, goods, and/or service for the provisions of mass transportation service in the 

SPONSOR area. The mass transportation system under the terms of this Agreement shall be 

operated by the SPONSOR and shall serve area-wide transportation needs. The SPONSOR shall 

have full responsibility for the day-to-day management and operation of the system. The 

SPONSOR agrees to be responsible for all operating costs of the system.

iii. During the period of contract performance, the SPONSOR shall keep accurate records, in a 

manner approved by the DEPARTMENT, with regard to the use of the PROJECT rolling stock; 

and shall submit to the DEPARTMENT, upon request, such information as is required in order 

to assure compliance with this Article; and shall immediately notify the DEPARTMENT in all 

cases where PROJECT rolling stock is used in a manner or for a purpose other than mass 

transportation.

iv. During the period of contract performance, the SPONSOR shall maintain the PROJECT rolling 

stock, support vehicle, and goods at a level of cleanliness, safety and mechanical soundness as 

determined by the SPONSOR and approved by the DEPARTMENT. The DEPARTMENT and 

the FTA shall have the right to conduct periodic inspections for the purpose of confirming proper 

maintenance pursuant to this Article.

v. The SPONSOR shall maintain, in amount and form approved by the DEPARTMENT, such 

comprehensive and collision insurance or self-insurance as will be adequate to replace or repair 

PROJECT equipment throughout the PROJECT equipment's useful life.

vi. If at any time during the duration of the PROJECT equipment's useful life, it is determined by 

the DEPARTMENT that said PROJECT equipment is not being used or maintained in 

accordance with the terms of this Agreement or the SPONSOR is not keeping records as 

specified in paragraph (d) of this Article, then the DEPARTMENT, at its discretion, shall require 

the SPONSOR to either remit ownership of the equipment to the DEPARTMENT or shall remit 

to the DEPARTMENT ninety percent (90%) of the fair market value, if any, of such property. 

For the purpose of this Article, the fair market value shall be deemed to be the value of the 

property as determined by an appraisal, approved by the DEPARTMENT, conducted as soon 

after such misuse or withdrawal occurs or the actual proceeds from the public sale of such

submitsubmit to the DEPARTMENT,DEPARTMENT, uponupon request,request, such informationinformation

compliancecompliance with this Article; and shall immediately notifywith this Article; and shall immediately notify thethe DEPARTMENTDEPARTMENT

72



7

property, whichever is approved by the DEPARTMENT and FTA. The DEPARTMENT 

reserves the right to transfer ownership of the surrendered PROJECT equipment to another 

transportation service provider. Upon disposition of said property or properties by transfer, sale, 

or as otherwise directed by the DEPARTMENT in accordance with the procedures of the 

DEPARTMENT, the SPONSOR forfeits any invested interest in lieu of the costs of such 

disposition. Under no circumstances will the property be disposed of without the specific 

written consent of the DEPARTMENT.

vii. The SPONSOR shall not permit the use of the PROJECT equipment for political purposes.

viii. The SPONSOR shall not alter, modify or remove from the PROJECT equipment any part, 

component, or accessory without written consent from the DEPARTMENT.

ix. The SPONSOR will concur with the DEPARTMENT’S Transit Asset Management Group Plan 

(TAM) in order to keep transit assets in a state of good repair.

ARTICLE II

COVENANT AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES

The SPONSOR shall comply with all relevant Federal, State, and local laws. The SPONSOR warrants it has not 

employed or retained any company or person, other than a bona fide employee working solely for the SPONSOR 

to solicit or secure this Agreement, and it has not paid or agreed to pay any company or person, other than a bona 

fide employee working solely for the SPONSOR, any fee, commission, percentage, brokerage fee, gifts, or any 

other consideration, contingent upon or resulting from the award or making of this Agreement. For breach or 

violation of this warranty, the DEPARTMENT shall have the right to annul this Agreement without liability or at 

its discretion to deduct from the Agreement price or consideration, or otherwise recover, the full amount of such 

fee, commission, percentage, brokerage fee, gift or contingent fee.

ARTICLE III

EMPLOYMENT OF DEPARTMENT’S PERSONNEL

The SPONSOR shall not employ any person or persons in the employ of the DEPARTMENT for any work required 

by the terms of this Agreement, without the written permission of the DEPARTMENT except as may otherwise 

be provided for herein.

ARTICLEARTICLE IIII

73



8

ARTICLE IV 

CODE OF ETHICS

No member, officer, or employee of the SPONSOR during his tenure or one year thereafter shall have any interest, 

direct or indirect in this Agreement or the proceeds thereof the SPONSOR agrees to maintain a written code or 

standards of conduct that shall govern the actions of its officers, employees, board members, or agents engaged in 

the award or administration of third party contracts, sub-agreements, or leases financed with Federal and/or State 

assistance.

ARTICLE V 

REVIEW OF WORK

Authorized representatives of the DEPARTMENT and Federal Government may during normal office hours review 

and inspect the PROJECT activities, data collected, and financial records of the SPONSOR pertaining to the 

PROJECT, this Agreement, and any amendment thereto.

A. Inspection of Fleet, Equipment, and Transit-related property(ies).

Authorized representatives of the DEPARTMENT, the Inspector General of the United States, and the 

Secretary of Transportation may at all reasonable times inspect all fleet, equipment, and transit-related 

properties purchased by the SPONSOR as part of the PROJECT, all transportation services rendered by 

the SPONSOR by the use of such fleet, and all relevant PROJECT data and records.

B. Inspection of Books, Records, and Accounts

The SPONSOR agrees to provide sufficient access to FTA and the DEPARTMENT to inspect and 

audit records and information related to performance of this Agreement as reasonably may be 

required. The SPONSOR shall maintain all books, documents, papers, accounting records and other 

evidence pertaining to costs incurred by the SPONSOR in operating the SPONSOR's Public 

Transportation Services and acquisition of Capital items and acquisition of Capital items shall make such 

material available at all reasonable times during the period of this Agreement, and for three (3) years 

from the date of the final payment under this Agreement, for the inspection by the DEPARTMENT and 

FTA, and copies shall be furnished if requested within the period of time set by the DEPARTMENT.

ARTICLE VI 

AUTHORIZATION AND APPROVAL

Time is of the essence in this Agreement and the SPONSOR shall perform its responsibilities to the PROJECT in 

accordance with this Agreement. It is understood and agreed by the parties to this Agreement, the SPONSOR shall

Equipment,Equipment, andand TransitTransit--relatedrelated property(ies).property(ies).

74



9

satisfy the terms of this Agreement for operating assistance commencing upon the beginning of the operating period

and continuing until the end of the operating period as denoted on the EXHIBIT A- Section 1. The Capital 

Improvements and the purchase of improvements or services provided under the terms of this Agreement shall be 

completed as defined in the EXHIBIT A- Section 2, Section 3, and Section 4. The work shall be carried on 

expeditiously and in general accordance with the scope and procedure with recognition that unforeseen events may 

make necessary some minor variations. It is understood and agreed this Agreement is contingent upon FTA

approval of the funding assistance and distribution as described in EXHIBIT A-PROJECT SUMMARY for this 

project and that any payment to the SPONSOR by the DEPARTMENT will be made subject provisions set forth 

in ARTICLE VIII (Compensation).

ARTICLE VII 

RESPONSIBILITY FOR CLAIMS AND LIABILITY

To the extent provided by law, the SPONSOR and its sub-recipients shall be responsible for any and all damages 

to property or persons and shall indemnify and save harmless the DEPARTMENT, its officers, agents, and 

employees, from all suits, claims, actions, or damages of any nature whatsoever resulting from the negligence of 

the SPONSOR and its sub-recipients in the performance of work under this Agreement. Further, the SPONSOR 

and its sub-recipient agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the DEPARTMENT from suits, claims, actions, or 

damages of any nature whatsoever by any person, firm, corporation, or governmental body resulting from any 

defective equipment or material purchased by the SPONSOR and its sub-recipients under this Agreement or from 

the installation and operation thereof or from operation of equipment and materials already owned by the 

SPONSOR and its sub-recipients. These indemnities shall not be limited by reason of any insurance coverage held 

by the SPONSOR or the SPONSOR 's contractors or subcontractors.

ARTICLE VIII 

COMPENSATION

A. Operating Assistance

(a) It is understood and agreed that the total estimated eligible net Operating Assistance is the difference 

between eligible operating expenses and eligible revenues, as defined in FTA Circular 9040.lG for the 

provision of operating assistance as shown, if any, in EXHIBIT A– Section 1, as attached hereto and 

made a part of this Agreement as if fully set out herein, is TWO HUNDRED EIGHTY SEVEN 

THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED and ZERO/100 Dollars ($287,200.00). For the purposes of the 

DEPARTMENT'S participation in the costs by the SPONSOR, it is agreed that the DEPARTMENT'S 

maximum obligation for the SPONSOR'S operating assistance program shall be ONE HUNDRED

To the extent provided by law, the SPONSOR and its subTo the extent provided by law, the SPONSOR and its sub-recipients shall be responsible for any and all damages recipients shall be responsible for any and all damages 

to property or persons and shall indemnify and save harmless the DEPARTMENT, its officers, agents, and to property or persons and shall indemnify and save harmless the DEPARTMENT, its officers, agents, and 

75



10

FORTY THREE THOUSAND SIX HUNDRED and ZERO/100 Dollars ($143,600.00), which includes 

the administrative and operating costs, as established in EXHIBIT A– Section 1.

(b) If the total estimated eligible net project cost of the SPONSOR'S public transportation service for the 

operating period beginning July 1, 2022 and ending June 30, 2023 (“Operating Assistance Period”)., 

as reflected in the final audit, is less than TWO HUNDRED EIGHTY SEVEN THOUSAND TWO 

HUNDRED and ZERO/100 Dollars ($287,200.00), then the DEPARTMENT shall be required to pay 

only fifty percent (50%) of the total incurred direct administrative and operating costs.

(c) It is further understood and agreed that any line item shown in EXHIBIT A -Project Summary may be 

increased or decreased without the execution of a Supplemental Agreement, provided that the 

DEPARTMENT'S total maximum obligation under this agreement is not changed, if said change is 

requested in writing by the SPONSOR and approved in writing by the DEPARTMENT.

B. Capital Acquisitions

(a) RESERVED

(b) RESERVED

(c) RESERVED

(d) RESERVED

C. Mobility Management Activities

(a) RESERVED

(b) RESERVED

D. Departmental Obligations

The DEPARTMENT’S maximum obligation, $143,600.00, as set forth above is funded by the FTA and the 

State. No entity of the State other than the DEPARTMENT has any obligations to the SPONSOR related 

to this project. This Agreement does not obligate the DEPARTMENT to make any payment to the 

SPONSOR from any funds other than those made available to the DEPARTMENT from the FTA. The 

obligation of the DEPARTMENT to pay or reimburse the SPONSOR is expressly limited to the amount of 

funds remitted to the DEPARTMENT by the FTA. Payments of invoices will be contingent upon the receipt 

of funds from the FTA, and therefore the DEPARTMENT does not make any commitment to the 

SPONSOR as to the timing of when payment to the SPONSOR will be made. In the event the funds made 

available to the DEPARTMENT by the FTA are insufficient for the PROJECT, the DEPARTMENT’s 

payment obligations shall not exceed the availability of such FTA funds, and the DEPARTMENT shall 

have the right at its sole discretion to terminate this Agreement immediately upon notice to the SPONSOR 

without further obligation of the DEPARTMENT.

76



11

ARTICLE IX 

SUBSTANTIAL CHANGES

If, prior to the satisfactory completion of the PROJECT under this Agreement, the SPONSOR materially 

alters the scope, character, complexity or duration of the PROJECT from those required under the 

Agreement, SPONSOR shall provide prior notice to the DEPARTMENT and request an amendment to the 

Agreement by a Supplemental Agreement; which may be executed between the parties, at 

DEPARTMENT’S sole discretion. Minor changes in the work which do not involve increased 

compensation, extensions of time or changes in the goals and objectives of the work may be made by written 

notification of such change by either the DEPARTMENT or the SPONSOR with prior written approval by 

the other party.

ARTICLE X 
PAYMENTS

A. PARTIAL PAYMENT

The SPONSOR shall submit to the DEPARTMENT monthly invoices of the Operating Assistance, Capital 

Projects, Mobility Management Activities and Capital Expenditures costs applicable to this agreement 

incurred during the period of this Agreement and submit to the DEPARTMENT itemized invoices stating, 

in reasonable detail, the actual expenses incurred by the SPONSOR on the PROJECT for the invoice period 

as well as a specific designation and certification of receipt of the item or items purchased as listed in 

ARTICLE I. Upon the basis of its review and approval of such invoices, the DEPARTMENT will, at the 

request of the SPONSOR, make payment to the SPONSOR pursuant to this ARTICLE as the PROJECT 

progresses but not more than once a month. Payments will be made by the DEPARTMENT for expenses 

incurred by the SPONSOR, less any previous partial payments, for any item and for each item specified in 

the invoice and which is specifically set for in ARTICLE I. It is agreed that under no circumstances will 

the DEPARTMENT be responsible or obligated to pay to the SPONSOR more than the amounts specified 

in Article VIII – Compensation covered under this Agreement.

The SPONSOR further expressly agrees that the DEPARTMENT may set-off against the partial payment 

provided hereunder, an amount equal to that amount which has been identified by either state or federal 

audit as an unallowable expenditure in any contract between the SPONSOR and the DEPARTMENT on 

which payments have been made, subject to final audit.

B. FINAL PAYMENT AND PROJECT CLOSEOUT

If a final monthly invoice is not received by the DEPARTMENT within ninety (90) days after each of the 

submitsubmit toto thethe DEPARTMENTDEPARTMENT monthlymonthly invoicesinvoices ofof thethe OperatingOperating

77



12

Operating Assistance, Capital Projects, Mobility Management Activities and Capital Expenditures date(s), 

the DEPARTMENT may, at its discretion, consider the last invoice submitted by the SPONSOR as the 

final invoice and may proceed with final close out proceedings. In completing the final close out, the 

DEPARTMENT may set-off against any remaining balance in any contract between the DEPARTMENT 

and SPONSOR an amount equal to the unallowable expenditure as provided for herein, under Partial 

Payment. If any costs covered under the terms of this Agreement are disallowed by either the 

DEPARTMENT or FTA, the SPONSOR, and not the DEPARTMENT or FTA shall be responsible for such 

disallowed costs. Upon approval of the final invoice by the DEPARTMENT, the DEPARTMENT will pay 

any remaining balance of compensation it owes the SPONSOR, not to exceed the DEPARTMENT’S 

maximum obligation set out in Article VIII. The SPONSOR agrees that the acceptance of this final payment

shall be in full settlement of all terms stated under this Agreement and shall release the DEPARTMENT 

from any and all other claims of whatever nature whether known or unknown, for and on account of said 

Agreement.

IT IS FURTHER AGREED that the SPONSOR shall submit to the DEPARTMENT, if applicable, audited 

financial statements reflecting all eligible costs incurred for the SPONSOR'S public transportation services. 

The audit shall be performed by an independent auditor or audit firm and shall conform to the Federal 

Office of Management and Budget Uniform Grant Guidance, 2 CFR Part 200. DEPARTMENT reserves 

the right to perform an audit at any time to ensure compliance. The DEPARTMENT, at its discretion, may 

accept the independent audit or conduct its own audit at SPONSOR’s cost.

C. APPROVAL OF SUBCONTRACTS

Subject to the DEPARTMENT’s prior approval under ARTICLE XI, the DEPARTMENT reserves the right 

to review all subcontracts prepared, if approved, in connection with the work required under this 

Agreement, and the SPONSOR agrees that it shall submit to the DEPARTMENT prepared estimates for 

the DEPARTMENT'S review and written concurrence in advance of their execution. All contracts shall 

provide that subcontracts exceeding $10,000.00 in cost shall contain all the required provisions of the prime 

contract.

D. PROMPT PAYMENT OF SUBCONTRACTORS/DBEs

The SPONSOR agrees to pay each subcontractor or Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (“DBE”) 

subcontractor (and extends to any second-tier subcontract(s)) under this FTA funded Agreement for 

satisfactory performance of its subcontract no later than thirty (30) days from receipt of each payment the 

78



13

SPONSOR received from the DEPARTMENT’s FTA funded transit program. Any disputes that arise 

regarding payment to any subcontractor after the satisfactory completion of work may be brought to the 

attention of the DEPARTMENT, who will make a determination whether there was good cause. Any delay 

of payment from the above-referenced time frame may occur only for good cause following prior written 

approval from the DEPARTMENT. This clause applies to both DBE and non-DBE subcontractors. Failure 

by the SPONSOR to carry out the requirements of prompt payment without just cause, is a material breach 

of this Agreement with the DEPARTMENT and may result in the DEPARTMENT withholding payment 

from the SPONSOR until all delinquent payments have been made (no interest will be paid to SPONSOR 

for the period that payment was withheld, when applicable), termination of this Agreement, or other such

remedy as the DEPARTMENT deems appropriate. Additionally, the SPONSOR shall not withhold

retainage from subcontractors.

ARTICLE XI 

SUBCONTRACTING AND ASSIGNMENT

A. SUBCONTRACTING OF SERVICE

The SPONSOR agrees it will not engage, sub-contract or otherwise pass through funding authorized by 

this Agreement to any operator of public transportation services without the specific written consent of the 

DEPARTMENT. Such agreement shall be a written contract between the SPONSOR and the operator and 

shall be approved as to form and content by the DEPARTMENT.

B. ASSIGNMENT AND NO FEDERAL GOVERNMENT OBLIGATIONS TO THIRD PARTY 

AGREEMENTS

Unless otherwise authorized in writing by the DEPARTMENT, the SPONSOR shall not assign any 

portion of the work to be performed under this Agreement, or execute any contract, amendment or change 

order thereto, or obligate itself in any manner with any third party with respect to its rights and 

responsibilities under this Agreement without the prior written concurrence of the DEPARTMENT. The 

Federal Government is not a party to this Agreement and shall not be subject to any obligations or 

liabilities to the Recipient, SPONSOR or any other party (whether or not a party to that contract) 

pertaining to any matter resulting from the underlying contract.

ARTICLE XII 

CONTRACT DISPUTES

This Agreement shall be deemed to have been executed in Fulton County, Georgia, and all questions of 

SUBCONTRACTINGSUBCONTRACTING AND ASSIGNMENTASSIGNMENT

79



14

interpretation and construction shall be governed by the Laws of the State of Georgia.

ARTICLE XIII

TERMINATION FOR CAUSE AND FOR CONVENIENCE

The Department reserves the right to terminate this Agreement for convenience or just cause at any time upon 

thirty (30) days written notice to the SPONSOR notwithstanding any just claims by the SPONSOR. The 

Termination for cause and convenience shall extend to all third-party contractors and their contracts at every 

tier and subrecipients and their subcontracts at every tier. It is understood by the parties hereto that should 

the DEPARTMENT terminate this Agreement prior to the completion of an element of work the SPONSOR 

shall be reimbursed for such work element based upon the percentage of work completed up to and including 

the date of termination set forth in the notice.

ARTICLE XIV

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE STATE LAWS

A. The undersigned certifies that the provisions of O.C.G.A. §45-10-20 through 45-10-28 relating to Conflict 

of Interest, have been complied with in full.

B. The SPONSOR shall comply and shall require its subcontractors and third-party operators to comply with 

requirements in Georgia Department of Transportation, Exhibit B, Certification Of Sponsor, Compliance 

with State Audit Requirement, attached hereto and made a part of this Agreement as if fully set out herein.

C. The SPONSOR certifies that the provisions of O.C.G.A. §50-24-1 through 50-24-6 relating to the "Drug-

Free Workplace Act" have been or will be complied with in full, as stated in EXHIBIT C of this Agreement.

D. The SPONSOR shall comply with and require its consultants to comply with the requirements in Georgia 

Department of Transportation, Georgia Security and Immigration Compliance Act Affidavit, EXHIBIT D.

E. The SPONSOR shall comply and require its subcontractors to comply with the requirements of Executive 

Order No. 13153, Federal Leadership on Reducing Text Messaging while Driving, October 1, 2009, and 

DOT Order 3902.10, Text Messaging December 30, 2009, incorporated by reference and made a part of 

this Agreement as if fully set out herein.

F. The SPONSOR shall comply with the provisions of O.C.G.A. §16-10-6 relating to elected officers of a 

political subdivision who sell any personal property to political subdivisions of there are officers.

G. Pursuant to O.C.G.A.§. 50-5-85, the SPONSOR hereby certifies that it is not currently engaged in, and 

agrees that for the duration of this contract, it will not engage in a boycott of Israel.

H. The SPONSOR shall comply and shall require its contractors, subcontractors and consultants to comply with 

the requirements of the State of Georgia’s Sexual Harassment Prevention Policy as described in Exhibit J 

which is hereby made a part of this Agreement as if fully set out herein.

I. The SPONSOR agrees that it will comply with the current State Management Plan (most recently updated as 

certifiescertifies thatthat thethe provisionsprovisions ofof O.C.G.A.O.C.G.A. §§4545--1010--2020 throughthrough 4545--1010--2828

of Interest, have been complied with in full.of Interest, have been complied with in full.

80



15

of October 1, 2020), and any other guidance that the Department may promulgate from time to time.

ARTICLE XV

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION REQUIREMENTS

A. The SPONSOR acknowledges that the provisions of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986, as 

amended, 31 U.S.C. § 3801 et seq. and U.S. DOT regulations, "Program Fraud Civil Remedies," 49

C.F.R. part 31, apply to its actions pertaining to this Project.

B. SPONSOR shall comply with all applicable FTA regulations, policies, procedures and directives, including 

without limitation those listed directly or by reference in the current Master Agreement between the 

DEPARTMENT and FTA, as they may be amended or promulgated from time to time during the term of 

the contract. SPONSOR's failure to comply shall constitute a material breach of the Agreement.

C. Civil Rights Requirements

(a) Nondiscrimination - In accordance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, as amended, 42 USC 2000d, 

Sec. 303 of the Age Discrimination Act (1975), as amended, 42 USC 6102, Sec. 202 of the Americans 

with Disabilities Act (1990), 42 USC 12132, and 49 USC 5332, SPONSOR shall not discriminate 

against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, color, creed, national origin, sex, 

age or disability. SPONSOR shall also comply with applicable Federal implementing regulations and 

other requirements FTA may issue.

(b) Equal Employment Opportunity - The following equal employment opportunity requirements apply to 

the underlying contract:

Race, Color, Religion, Gender Identity, National Origin, Sex, Sexual Orientation - In accordance with 

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, as amended, 42 USC 2000e, and 49 USC 5332, SPONSOR shall 

comply with all applicable equal employment opportunity requirements of USDOL, "Office of Federal 

Contract Compliance Programs, Equal Employment Opportunity, USDOL," 41 CFR 60 et seq., 

(implementing Executive Order No. 11246, "Equal Employment Opportunity," as amended by 

Executive Order No. 11375, "Amending Executive Order 11246 Relating to Equal Employment 

Opportunity," 42 USC 2000e), and any applicable Federal statutes, executive orders, regulations, and 

policies that may in the future affect construction activities undertaken in the course of the project. 

SPONSOR shall take affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed, and that employees are

treated during employment, without regard to Race, Color, Religion, Gender Identity, National Origin, 

Sex, and Sexual Orientation. Such action shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

RequirementsRequirements

-- In accordance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, as amended, 42 USC 2000d, In accordance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, as amended, 42 USC 2000d, 

81



16

employment, upgrading, demotion or transfer, recruitment or recruitment advertising, layoff or 

termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including 

apprenticeship. In addition, SPONSOR shall comply with any implementing requirements FTA may 

issue.

(c) Age - In accordance with Sec. 4 of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (1967), as amended, 29 

USC 623 and 49 USC 5332, SPONSOR shall refrain from discrimination against present and 

prospective employees for reason of age. SPONSOR shall also comply with any implementing 

requirements FTA may issue.

(d) Disabilities - In accordance with Sec. 102 of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), as amended, 

42 USC 12112, SPONSOR shall comply with the requirements of US Equal Employment Opportunity 

Commission (EEOC), Regulations to Implement Equal Employment Provisions of the Americans with 

Disabilities Act, 29 CFR 1630, pertaining to employment of persons with disabilities. SPONSOR shall 

also comply with any implementing requirements FTA may issue. SPONSOR shall include these 

requirements in each subcontract financed in whole or in part with FTA assistance, modified only if 

necessary to identify the affected parties.

D. The preceding provisions include, in part, certain Standard Terms & Conditions required by USDOT, 

whether or not expressly stated in the preceding contract provisions. All USDOT-required contractual 

provisions, as stated in FTA Circular 4220.1F, are hereby incorporated by reference. Anything to the 

contrary herein notwithstanding, all FTA mandated terms shall be deemed to control in the event of a 

conflict with other provisions contained in this Agreement. The SPONSOR shall not perform any act, fail 

to perform any act, or refuse to comply with any request that would cause the recipient to be in violation of 

FTA terms and conditions.

E. The SPONSOR agrees to comply with mandatory standards and policies relating to energy efficiency, 

which are contained in the state energy conservation plan issued in compliance with the Energy Policy and 

Conservation Act.

F. The SPONSOR shall comply and require its consultants or third-party operator to comply with the 

requirements of 49 U.S.C. Section 5333(b), Labor Standards as more specifically referenced in U.S. 

Department of Labor correspondence dated August 2, 2010, incorporated by reference as if fully set out 

herein.

G. It will comply with the inspection and other requirements of the Clean Air Act, as amended, (42 U.S.C.

§§ 7401 – 7671q); and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act as amended, (33 U.S.C. §§ 1251-1387).

H. For all contracts that involve the employment of mechanics or laborers, the SPONSOR shall comply with 

CFRCFR 1630, pertainingpertaining toto employment of persons with disabilities.

also comply with any implementing requirements FTAalso comply with any implementing requirements FTA may issue. SPONSOR shall include these may issue. SPONSOR shall include these 

82



17

the Prevailing Wage Requirements, Anti-Kickback” Prohibitions, and Contract Work Hours and

Safety Standards Act (40 U.S.C. §§ 3701-3708), as supplemented by the DOL regulations at 29 C.F.R. 

part 5.

I. The SPONSOR agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. 5323(d), 5323(r), and 49 C.F.R. part 604, which provides 

that recipients and subrecipients of FTA assistance are prohibited from providing charter service using 

federally funded equipment or facilities.

J. According to 49 CFR Part 605, a SPONSOR is prohibited from providing school bus service in 

competition with private school bus operators unless the service qualifies and is approved by the 

FTA Administrator under an allowable exemption.

K. The SPONSOR, subrecipient or subcontractor shall not discriminate on the basis of Race, Color, Religion, 

Gender Identity, National Origin, Sex, Sexual Orientation in the performance of this contract. The 

SPONSOR shall carry out applicable requirements of 49 C.F.R. part 26 in the award and administration of 

DOT-assisted contracts. Failure by the SPONSOR to carry out these requirements is a material breach of 

this contract, which may result in the termination of this contract or such other remedy as the recipient 

deems appropriate, which may include, but is not limited to:

(a) Withholding monthly progress payments;

(b) Assessing sanctions;

(c) Liquidated damages; and/or

(d) Disqualifying the SPONSOR from future bidding as non-responsible. 49 C.F.R. § 26.13(b).

L. SPONSOR shall comply with 49 USC 5301(d), stating Federal policy that the elderly and persons with 

disabilities have the same rights as other persons to use mass transportation services and facilities and that 

special efforts shall be made in planning and designing those services and facilities to implement that 

policy. SPONSOR shall also comply with all applicable requirements of Sec. 504 of the Rehabilitation Act 

(1973), as amended, 29 USC 794, which prohibits discrimination on the basis of handicaps, and the 

Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), as amended, 42 USC 12101 et seq., which requires that 

accessible facilities and services be made available to persons with disabilities, including any subsequent 

amendments thereto.

M. The SPONSOR agrees to comply with the current Federal substance abuse regulations: (a) Drug-Free 

Workplace. U.S. DOT regulations, "Drug-Free Workplace Requirements (Grants), " 49 C.F.R. Part 32,

that implements the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988, 41 U.S.C. §§ 701 et seq. b. Alcohol Misuse 

and Prohibited Drug Use. FTA Regulations, "Prevention of Alcohol Misuse and Prohibited Drug Use in 

Transit Operations," 49 CFR Part 655, to the extent applicable. (b) Participate in Agency’s drug and alcohol 

assisted contracts. Failure by the SPONSOR to carry out these requirements is a material breach of assisted contracts. Failure by the SPONSOR to carry out these requirements is a material breach of 

this contract, which may result in this contract, which may result in the termination of this contract or such other remedy as the recipient the termination of this contract or such other remedy as the recipient 

83



18

program established in compliance with 49 CFR 653 and 654.

N. In all contracts at all tiers expected to equal or exceed $25,000, the SPONSOR agrees to comply with 

mandatory standards and policies of FTA Master Agreement §39(b) to promptly provide notice related to 

fraud, waste, abuse, or other legal matters, as follows:

(a) For the purposes of Subsection N., “Recipient” refers to the DEPARTMENT. The SPONSOR must 

promptly notify the Recipient, who will promptly notify the U.S. DOT Inspector General in addition to 

the FTA Chief Counsel or Regional Counsel for the Region in which the Recipient is located, if the 

SPONSOR or Recipient has knowledge of potential fraud, waste, or abuse occurring on a Project 

receiving assistance from FTA. The notification provision applies if a person has or may have submitted 

a false claim under the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq., or has or may have committed a 

criminal or civil violation of law pertaining to such matters as fraud, conflict of interest, bid rigging, 

misappropriation or embezzlement, bribery, gratuity, or similar misconduct involving federal 

assistance. This responsibility occurs whether the Project is subject to this Agreement or another 

agreement between the Recipient and FTA, or an agreement involving a principal, officer, employee, 

agent, or SPONSOR (Third Party Participant). It also applies to subcontractors at any tier. Knowledge, 

as used in this paragraph, includes, but is not limited to, knowledge of a criminal or civil investigation 

by a Federal, state, or local law enforcement or other investigative agency, a criminal indictment or 

civil complaint, or probable cause that could support a criminal indictment, or any other credible 

information in the possession of the Recipient. In this paragraph, “promptly” means to refer information 

without delay and without change. This notification provision applies to all divisions of the Recipient, 

including divisions tasked with law enforcement or investigatory functions.

(b) Flow-Down Requirement. If a current or prospective legal matter that may affect the Federal 

Government emerges, the SPONSOR must promptly notify the Recipient, who will promptly notify the 

FTA Chief Counsel and FTA Regional Counsel for the Region in which the Recipient is located. 

DEPARTMENT is required to include this notification requirement in its Third Party Agreements and 

must require each Third Party Participant, including SPONSOR, to include an equivalent provision in 

its sub-agreements at every tier, for any agreement that is a “covered transaction” according to 2 C.F.R.

§§ 180.220 and 1200.220.

(1) The types of legal matters that require notification include, but are not limited to, a major dispute, 

breach, default, litigation, or naming the Federal Government as a party to litigation or a legal 

disagreement in any forum for any reason.

(2) Matters that may affect the Federal Government include, but are not limited to, the Federal 

Government’s interests in the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any 

assistance. This responsibility occurs whether the Project is subject to this Agreemenassistance. This responsibility occurs whether the Project is subject to this Agreemen

agreement between the Recipient and FTA, or an agreement involving a principal, officer, employee, agreement between the Recipient and FTA, or an agreement involving a principal, officer, employee, 

84



19

Amendments thereto, or the Federal Government’s administration or enforcement of federal laws, 

regulations, and requirements.

(3) Additional Notice to U.S. DOT Inspector General. The Recipient must promptly notify the U.S. 

DOT Inspector General in addition to the FTA Chief Counsel or Regional Counsel for the Region 

in which the Recipient is located, if the Recipient has knowledge of potential fraud, waste, or abuse 

occurring on a Project receiving assistance from FTA. The notification provision applies if a person 

has or may have submitted a false claim under the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729, et seq., or 

has or may have committed a criminal or civil violation of law pertaining to such matters as fraud, 

conflict of interest, bid rigging, misappropriation or embezzlement, bribery, gratuity, or similar 

misconduct involving federal assistance. This responsibility occurs whether the Project is subject to 

this Agreement or another agreement between the Recipient and FTA, or an agreement involving a 

principal, officer, employee, agent, or Third Party Participant of the Recipient. It also applies to 

subcontractors at any tier. Knowledge, as used in this paragraph, includes, but is not limited to, 

knowledge of a 95 criminal or civil investigation by a Federal, state, or local law enforcement or 

other investigative agency, a criminal indictment or civil complaint, or probable cause that could 

support a criminal indictment, or any other credible information in the possession of the Recipient. 

In this paragraph, “promptly” means to refer information without delay and without change. This 

notification provision applies to all divisions of the Recipient, including divisions tasked with law 

enforcement or investigatory functions.

O. The SPONSOR shall comply with the prohibitions of 2 CFR 200.216 on certain telecommunications and 

video surveillance services or equipment as follows:

(a) Recipients and sub-recipients are prohibited from obligating or expending loan or grant funds to:

(1) Procure or obtain;

(2) Extend or renew a contract to procure or obtain; or

(3) Enter into a contract (or extend or renew a contract) to procure or obtain equipment, services, or 

systems that uses covered telecommunications equipment or services as a substantial or essential 

component of any system, or as critical technology as part of any system. As described in Public 

Law 115-232, section 889, covered telecommunications equipment is telecommunications

equipment produced by Huawei Technologies Company or ZTE Corporation (or any subsidiary or 

affiliate of such entities).

(i) For the purpose of public safety, security of government facilities, physical security 

surveillance of critical infrastructure, and other national security purposes, video surveillance 

and telecommunications equipment produced by Hytera Communications Corporation, 

subcontractors at any tier. Knowledge, as used in this paragraph, includes, busubcontractors at any tier. Knowledge, as used in this paragraph, includes, bu

knowledge of a 95 criminal or civil investigation by a Federal, state, or local law enforcement or knowledge of a 95 criminal or civil investigation by a Federal, state, or local law enforcement or 

85



20

Hangzhou Hikvision Digital Technology Company, or Dahua Technology Company (or any 

subsidiary or affiliate of such entities).

(ii) Telecommunications or video surveillance services provided by such entities or using such 

equipment.

(iii) Telecommunications or video surveillance equipment or services produced or provided by an 

entity that the Secretary of Defense, in consultation with the Director of the National 

Intelligence or the Director of the Federal Bureau of Investigation, reasonably believes to be 

an entity owned or controlled by, or otherwise connected to, the government of a covered 

foreign country.

(4) In implementing the prohibition under Public Law 115-232, section 889, subsection (f), paragraph 

(1), heads of executive agencies administering loan, grant, or subsidy programs shall prioritize 

available funding and technical support to assist affected businesses, institutions and organizations 

as is reasonably necessary for those affected entities to transition from covered communications 

equipment and services, to procure replacement equipment and services, and to ensure that 

communications service to users and customers is sustained.

(5) For the purposes of Subsection O., “Recipient” refers to the DEPARTMENT and sub recipient 

refers to the SPONSOR.

ARTICLE XVI 

TERM

This Agreement shall be effective as of the Effective Date above and shall terminate upon the expiration of the 

Capital Expenditures Period, unless terminated earlier under Article XIII of this Agreement (the “Term”).

ARTICLE XVII 

INSURANCE

The SPONSOR shall provide insurance under this Agreement as follows:

A. It is understood that the SPONSOR (complete the applicable statement):

is self-insured and all claims against SPONSOR will be handled through

OR

shall, obtain coverage from SPONSOR’s private insurance company or cause its consultant/contractor 
to obtain coverage.

Prior to beginning the work, SPONSOR shall furnish to the DEPARTMENT, a copy of the certificates 

as is reasonably necessary for those affected entities to transition from covered communications as is reasonably necessary for those affected entities to transition from covered communications 

equipment and services, tequipment and services, to procure replacement equipment and services, and to ensure that o procure replacement equipment and services, and to ensure that 

86



21

and the endorsement page for the minimum amounts of insurance indicated below in this Article XVII 

(Insurance) of the Agreement.

B. Minimum Amounts. The following minimum amount of insurance from insurers rated at least A– by A.

M. Best’s and registered to do business in the State of Georgia:

(a) Commercial General Liability Insurance of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence $3,000,000 aggregate, 

including Automobile Comprehensive Liability Coverage with bodily injury in the minimum amount 

of $1,000,000 combined single limits each occurrence. DEPARTMENT shall be named as an 

additional insured and a copy of the policy endorsement shall be provided with the insurance 

certificate.

(b) Professional Liability (Errors and Omissions) Insurance with limits of at least:

(1) For Professionals – $1,000,000 per claim and $1,000,000 in aggregate coverage;
(2) For Sub-consultant Engineers and Architects – $1,000,000 per claim and $1,000,000 in aggregate 

coverage;
(3) For Other Consultants – $1,000,000 per claim and $1,000,000 in aggregate coverage.
(4) Professional liability insurance that shall be either a practice policy or project-specific coverage. 

Professional liability insurance shall contain prior acts coverage for services performed for this 
PROJECT. If project-specific coverage is used, these requirements shall be continued in effect for 
two years following final completion for the PROJECT.

(c) The above-listed insurance coverages shall be maintained in full force and effect for the entire term 

of the Agreement.

(d) The insurance certificate must provide the following:

(1) Name, address, signature and telephone number of authorized agents.
(2) Name and address of insured.
(3) Name of Insurance Company.
(4) Description of coverage in standard terminology.
(5) Policy number, policy period and limits of liability.
(6) Name and address of DEPARTMENT as certificate holder.
(7) Thirty (30) day notice of cancellation.
(8) Details of any special policy exclusions.

(e) Waiver of Subrogation: There is no waiver of subrogation rights by either party with respect to 

insurance.

(f) If and to the extent such damage or loss (including costs and expenses) as covered by this 

LiabilityLiability (Errors(Errors and Omissions)Omissions) Insurance with limits of at least:

Professionals –– $1,000,000$1,000,000 perper claimclaim andand $1,000,000$1,000,000 inin aggregateaggregate coverage;coverage;
consultant Engineers and Architects $1,000,000$1,000,000 claimclaim andand $1,000,000$1,000,000

87



22

indemnification set forth herein is paid by the State Tort Claims Trust Fund, the State Authority 

Liability Trust Fund, the State Employee Broad From Liability Fund, the State Insurance and Hazard 

Reserve Fund, and other self-insured funds established and maintained by the State of Georgia 

Department of Administrative Services Risk Management Division or any successor agency (all such 

funds hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Funds”), in satisfaction of any liability, whether 

established by judgment or settlement, the SPONSOR and its consultant/contractor agrees to 

reimburse the Funds for such monies paid out by the Funds.

ARTICLE XVIII 

EXHIBITS AND APPENDICES

This Agreement includes the exhibits and appendices as listed below, which are hereto attached and incorporated 

herein by reference:

EXHIBIT A Project Summary
EXHIBIT B Certification of Sponsor, Compliance with State Audit Requirement 
EXHIBIT C Certification of Sponsor Drug-Free Workplace
EXHIBIT D Georgia Security and Immigration Compliance Act Affidavit 
EXHIBIT E Certification of Sponsor
EXHIBIT F Certification of Department of Transportation, State Of Georgia
EXHIBIT G Primary Sponsor Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, and Other 

Responsibility Matters
EXHIBIT H Lower Tier Sponsor Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, and Other 

Responsibility Matters
EXHIBIT I Reserved

EXHIBIT J Certification of Compliance with the State of Georgia’s Sexual Harassment Prevention
Policy

ARTICLE XIX 

MISCELLANEOUS

A. NOTICE & CONTACT INFORMATION. The telephone numbers, contact persons, and mailing addresses 

listed below for the DEPARTMENT’s and the SPONSOR’s representatives may be changed during the 

term of this Agreement by written notification to the other party. Notices given pursuant to this Agreement 

shall be in writing and shall be to the DEPARTMENT or SPONSOR by delivering them in person, via 

email, or by depositing it in the U.S. mail postage prepaid, addressed to the parties as follows:

SummarySummary
Certification of Sponsor, Compliance withwith State AuditAudit Requirement Requirement 

88



23

DEPARTMENT SPONSOR
Name: Clement Solomon Name:
Title: Intermodal Division Director Title: 
600 West Peachtree Street, NW, _
6th Floor
Atlanta, Georgia 30308
Telephone #: (404) 347-0573
E-mail: csolomon@dot.ga.gov

In the event that any of the above identified individuals are no longer serving at their identified position, 

any notices, requests, demands and other communications shall be sent to the current individual in the 

position. If any of the above identified positions no longer exist, any notices, requests, demands and other 

communications shall be sent to an equivalent position within the party, as identified by the party.

B. ASSIGNMENT. Except as herein provided, the parties hereto will not transfer or assign all or any of their 

rights, titles or interests hereunder or delegate any of their duties or obligations hereunder without the prior 

written consent of the other party, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld.

C. NONWAIVER. No failure of either party to exercise any right or power given to such party under this 

Agreement, or to insist upon strict compliance by the other party with the provisions of this Agreement, 

and no custom or practice of either party at variance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, will

constitute a waiver of either party's right to demand exact and strict compliance by the other party with the 

terms and conditions of this Agreement.

D. NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES. Nothing contained herein shall be construed as conferring upon 

or giving to any person, other than the Parties hereto, any rights or benefits under or by reason of this 

Agreement.

E. SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, no 

term or condition of this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted as a waiver, express or implied, of 

any of the immunities, rights, benefits, protection, or other provisions under the Georgia Constitution.

F. CONTINUITY. Each of the provisions of this Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit and 

detriment of the parties and the successors and assigns of the parties.

ExceptExcept aass hereinherein provided,provided, thethe partiesparties hereto will not transfer or assignassign

hereunderhereunder oror delegatedelegate anyany ofof theirtheir dutiesduties oror obligationsobligations hereunderhereunder

89



24

G. WHEREAS CLAUSE AND EXHIBITS. The Whereas Clauses and Exhibits hereto are a part of this 

Agreement and are incorporated herein by reference.

H. SEVERABILITY. If any one or more of the provisions contained herein are for any reason held by any 

court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, 

illegality or unenforceability will not affect any other provision hereof, and this Agreement will be 

construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein.

I. INTERPRETATION. Should any provision of this Agreement require judicial interpretation, it is agreed 

that the court interpreting or construing the same shall not apply a presumption that the terms hereof shall 

be more strictly construed against one party by reason of the rule of construction that a document is to be 

construed more strictly against the party who itself or through its agent prepared the same, it being agreed 

that the agents of all parties have participated in the preparation hereof.

J. EXECUTION. Each of the individuals executing this Agreement represents that they are authorized to 

execute this Agreement on behalf of their respective entities.

K. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed and delivered in counterparts, and if so executed, 

shall become effective when a counterpart has been executed and delivered by all Parties hereto. All

counterparts taken together shall constitute one and the same Agreement and shall be fully enforceable as 

such. Delivery of counterparts via facsimile transmission or via email with scanned attachment shall be 

effective as if originals thereof were delivered.

L. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement supersedes all prior negotiations, discussion, statements and 

agreements between the parties and constitutes the full, complete and entire agreement between the parties 

with respect hereto; no member, officer, employee or agent of either party has authority to make, or has 

made, any statement, agreement, representation or contemporaneous agreement, oral or written, in 

connection herewith, amending, supplementing, modifying, adding to, deleting from, or changing the terms 

and conditions of this Agreement. No modification of or amendment to this Agreement will be binding on 

either party hereto unless such modification or amendment will be properly authorized, in writing, properly 

signed by both parties and incorporated in and by reference made a part hereof.

The covenants herein contained shall except as otherwise provided accrue to the benefit of and be binding upon 

the successors and assigns of the parties hereto.

that the agents of all parties have participated in the preparation hereof.that the agents of all parties have participated in the preparation hereof.

. Each of the individuals executing this . Each of the individuals executing this Agreement represents that they are authorized to Agreement represents that they are authorized to 

90



25

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

91



5

92



93



94



95



30

EXHIBIT B
CERTIFICATION OF SPONSOR COMPLIANCE WITH STATE AUDIT REQUIREMENT

I hereby certify that I am the duly authorized representative of whose address is

, and it is also certified that:

The provisions of Section 36-81-7 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, relating to the "Requirement of 
Audits” have been complied with in full such that:

(a) Each unit of local government having a population in excess of 1,500 persons or expenditures of
$550,000.00 or more shall provide for and cause to be made an annual audit of the financial affairs 
and transactions of all funds and activities of the local government for each fiscal year of the local 
government.

(b) The governing authority of each local unit of government not included above shall provide for and 
cause to be made the audit required not less often than once every two fiscal years.

(c) The governing authority of each local unit of government having expenditures of less than
$550,000.00 in that government's most recently ended fiscal year may elect to provide for and cause 
to be made, in lieu of the biennial audit, an annual report of agreed upon procedures for that fiscal 
year.

(d) A copy of the report and any comments made by the state auditor shall be maintained as a public 
record for public inspection during the regular working hours at the principal office of the local 
government. Those units of local government not having a principal office shall provide a notification 
to the public as to the location of and times during which the public may inspect the report.

Date Signature

Name: 

Title: 

authorityauthority of eacheach local unitunit ofof governmentgovernment notnot includedincluded aboveabove shallshall
cause to be made the audit required not less often than once every two fiscal years.cause to be made the audit required not less often than once every two fiscal years.

96



31

EXHIBIT C
CERTIFICATION OF SPONSOR DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE

I hereby certify that I am a principal and duly authorized representative of _ whose address is

(Sponsor), and it is also certified that:

The provisions of Section 50-24-1 through 50-24-6 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, relating to the 
"Drug-Free Workplace Act" have been complied with in full; and

A drug-free workplace will be provided for the Sponsor's employees during the performance of the contract; and

Each subcontractor hired by the Sponsor shall be required to ensure that the subcontractor's employees are 
provided a drug-free workplace. The Sponsor shall secure from that subcontractor the following written 
certification: "As part of the subcontracting agreement with the Sponsor, (subcontractor’s name) certifies to the 
Sponsor that a drug-free workplace will be provided for the subcontractor's employees during the 
performance of this contract pursuant to paragraph (7) of subsection (b) of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated 
Section 50-24-3"; and

It is certified that the undersigned will not engage in unlawful manufacture, sale, distribution, dispensation, 
possession, or use of a controlled substance or marijuana during the performance of the contract.

Date Signature

Name: 

Title: 

pursuantpursuant paragraphparagraph (7)(7) (b)

97



32

EXHIBIT D

GEORGIA SECURITY AND IMMIGRATION COMPLIANCE ACT AFFIDAVIT

Name of Contracting Entity: PUTNUM COUNTY BOC

Contract No. and Name: T007256 FY2023 - SEC 5311 - OPERATING ONLY

By executing this affidavit, the undersigned person or entity verifies its compliance with O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91, stating 
affirmatively that the individual, firm, or entity which is contracting with the Georgia Department of Transportation has 
registered with, is authorized to participate in, and is participating in the federal work authorization program commonly 
known as E-Verify, or any subsequent replacement program, in accordance with the applicable provisions and deadlines 
established in O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91.

The undersigned person or entity further agrees that it will continue to use the federal work authorization program throughout 
the contract period, and it will contract for the physical performance of services in satisfaction of such contract only with
subcontractors who present an affidavit to the undersigned with the information required by O.C.GA. § 13-10-91(b).

The undersigned person or entity further agrees to maintain records of such compliance and provide a copy of each such 
verification to the Georgia Department of Transportation within five (5) business days after any subcontractor is retained to 
perform such service.

49222

E-Verify / Company Identification Number Signature of Authorized Officer or Agent

Date of Authorization Printed Name of Authorized Officer or Agent

Title of Authorized Officer or Agency

Date

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN 
BEFORE ME ON THIS THE

DAY OF , 202

~NOTARY SEAL~
Notary Public

My Commission Expires: 

EXHIBIT D
Revised 12/01/11

The undersigned person or entity further agrees to maintain records of such compliance and provide a copy of each such The undersigned person or entity further agrees to maintain records of such compliance and provide a copy of each such 
Department of Transportation within five (5) businessDepartment of Transportation within five (5) business days after any subcontractor is retained to days after any subcontractor is retained to 

98



33

EXHIBIT E 
CERTIFICATION OF SPONSOR

I  hereby  certify  that  I  am  the and  duly  authorized  representative  of  the  Firm

whose address is . I 

hereby certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that:

1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the undersigned, to any person for 
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any Federal agency, a Member of Congress, an 
officer or employee of Congress, or any employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any 
Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any 
cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any Federal 
contract, grant, loan or cooperative agreement.

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or 
attempting to influence an officer or employee of any Federal agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee 
of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan, or 
cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, 'Disclosure Form to Report 
Lobbying', in accordance with its instructions.

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction was made or 
entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this transaction imposed by Section 
1352, Title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not 
less than $10,000.00 and not more than $100,000.00 for each such failure.

The prospective participant also agrees by submitting its bid the participant shall require that the language of this certification 
will be included in all lower tier subcontracts which exceed $10,000.00 and that all such sub- recipients shall certify 
and disclose accordingly.

I also certify that neither I nor the above firm I here represent has:

(a) employed or retained for a commission, percentage, brokerage contingent fee, or other consideration, any firm 
or person (other than a bona fide employee working solely for me or the above Sponsor) to solicit or secure this 
agreement.

(b) agreed, as an express or implied condition for obtaining this contract, to employ or retain the services of 
any firm or person in connection with carrying out the Agreement, or

(c) paid or agreed to pay, to any firm, organization or person (other than a bona fide employee working solely for me 
or the above Sponsor) any fee, contribution, donation, or consideration of any kind for, or in connection with, 
procuring or carrying out the agreement; except as here expressly stated (if any):

I acknowledge that this certificate is to be furnished to the Department of Transportation and the Federal Transit 
Administration, U.S. Department of Transportation, in connection with this Agreement involving participation of Federal-
aid Transit funds, and is subject to applicable State and Federal laws, both criminal and civil.

Date Signature

Name:

Title: 

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction wasThis certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction was
certificationcertification isis prerequisiteprerequisite forfor makingmaking enteringentering intointo thisthis transactiontransaction

99



34

EXHIBIT F
CERTIFICATION OF DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

STATE OF GEORGIA

I hereby certify that I am the Commissioner of the Department of Transportation of the State of Georgia, and that 
the above consulting firm, or its representative has not been required, directly or indirectly as an express or implied 
condition in connection with obtaining or carrying out this Agreement to:

(a) employ or retain, or agree to employ or retain, any firm or person, or

(b) pay, or agree to pay, to any firm, person, or organization, any fee, contribution, donation, or 
consideration of any kind; except as here expressly stated, (if any):

I acknowledge that this certificate is to be furnished to the Federal Transit Administration, U.S. Department of 
Transportation, in connection with this Agreement involving participation of Federal-aid Transit Funds, and is 
subject to applicable State and Federal Laws, both criminal and civil.

Date Commissioner

100



35

EXHIBIT G
PRIMARY SPONSOR CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, 

SUSPENSION, AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS

I hereby certify that I am the and duly authorized representative of
, whose address is , and I 

certify that I have read and understand the attached instructions and that to the best of my knowledge and belief
the firm and its representatives:

(a) Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible or voluntarily excluded 
from covered transactions by the Georgia Department of Transportation and by any Federal department or 
agency;

(b) Have not within a three year period preceding this Agreement been convicted of or had a civil judgment 
rendered against the firm or its representatives for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection 
with obtaining, attempting to obtain or performing a public (Federal, State, or Local) transaction or contract 
under a public transaction in violation of Federal or State antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, 
theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false invoices, or receiving stolen 
property;

(c) Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity (Federal, 
State or Local) with commission of any of the offense enumerated in paragraph (b) of this certification;

(d) Have not within a three year period preceding this Agreement had one or more public transaction (Federal,
State or Local) terminated for cause or default; and

(e) That the firm will include the clause titled "Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility 
and Voluntary Exclusion - Lower Tier Covered Transaction" as attached hereto and without motivation, in 
all lower tier covered transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.

I acknowledge that this certification is provided pursuant to Executive Order 12549 and 49 CFR Part 29 and that this 
firm agrees to abide by the rules and conditions set forth therein for any misrepresentation that would render this 
certification erroneous, including termination of this Agreement and other remedies available to the Georgia 
Department of Transportation and Federal Government.

I further acknowledge that this certificate is to be furnished to the Georgia Department of Transportation, in 
connection with this Agreement involving participation of Federal-Aid Transit Funds, and is subject to applicable 
State and Federal laws, both criminal and civil.

(SEAL)

Date Signature

Name: 

Title: 

theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false invoices, or receiving stolen theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false invoices, or receiving stolen 

101



36

Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters - Primary Covered 
Transactions (Sponsors)

1. By signing and submitting this contract the Sponsor is providing the certification set out in Exhibit G.
2. The inability of the Sponsor to provide the certification required may not necessarily result in denial of 

participation in this covered transaction. The Sponsor shall then submit an explanation of why it cannot 
provide the certification. The certification or explanation will be considered in connection with the 
Department's determination whether to enter into this transaction. However, failure of the Sponsor to 
furnish a certification or an explanation shall disqualify such person or firm from participation in this 
transaction.

3. The certification, Exhibit G, is a material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed by the 
Department before entering into this transaction. If it is later determined that the Sponsor knowingly 
rendered an erroneous certification, in addition to other remedies available to the Federal Government, 
the Department may terminate this transaction for cause of default.

4. The Sponsor shall provide immediate written notice to the Department if at any time the Sponsor learns that 
it certification was erroneous when submitted or has become erroneous by reason of changed circumstances.

5. The terms "covered transaction", "debarred", "suspended", "ineligible", "lower tier covered transaction", 
"participant", "person", "primary covered transaction", "principal", "proposal", and "voluntarily excluded", 
as used in these instructions and the certification, have the meanings set out in the Definitions and Coverage 
sections of the rules implementing Executive Order 12549. You may contact the Department for assistance 
in obtaining a copy of those regulations.

6. The Sponsor agrees by submitting this proposal/contract that should the proposed covered transaction be 
entered into, it shall not knowingly enter into a lower tier covered transaction with a person/firm who is 
debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this covered 
transaction unless authorized by the Department.

7. The Sponsor further agrees by submitting this proposal/contract that it will include the clause titled 
"Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion - Lower Tier 
Covered Transaction", as provided by the Department without modification, in all lower tier covered 
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.

8. A Sponsor in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective participant in lower tier 
covered transaction that it is not debarred, suspended, ineligible or voluntarily excluded from the covered 
transaction, unless it knows that the certification is erroneous. The Sponsor may decide the method and 
frequency by which it determines the eligibility of its principals.

9. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of records in 
order to render in good faith the certification required by these instructions. The knowledge and information 
of Sponsor is not required to exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent person in the ordinary 
course of business dealings.

10. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 6 of these instructions, if the Sponsor in a covered 
transaction knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is suspended, 
debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction in addition to other 
remedies available to the Federal Government, the Georgia Department of Transportation may terminate this 
transaction for cause or default.

"primary"primary "principal", "proposal", and "voluntarily excluded", 
instructionsinstructions andand thethe certification,certification, havehave thethe meaningsmeanings setset outout inin thethe DefinitionsDefinitions

implementingimplementing ExecutiveExecutive OrderOrder 12549.12549. YouYou maymay contactcontact thethe DepartmentDepartment

102



37

EXHIBIT H
LOWER TIER SPONSOR CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, 

AND
OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS

I hereby certify that I am the and duly authorized representative of

, whose address is , and I certify 

that I have read and understand the attached instructions and that to the best of my knowledge and belief the firm

and its representatives:

(a) Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible or voluntarily excluded 
from covered transactions by the Georgia Department of Transportation and by any Federal department or 
agency;

(b) I acknowledge that this certification is provided pursuant to Executive Order 12549 and 49 CFR Part 29 and 
that this firm agrees to abide by the rules and conditions set forth therein for any misrepresentation that 
would render this certification erroneous, including termination of this Agreement and other remedies 
available to the Georgia Department of Transportation and Federal Government.

(c) I further acknowledge that this certificate is to be furnished to the Georgia Department of Transportation, in 
connection with the Prime SPONSOR Agreement involving the participation of Federal-Aid Transit Funds, 
and is subject to applicable State and Federal laws, both criminal and civil.

(SEAL)

Date Signature

Name:

Title:

certificationcertification is providedprovided pursuant to Executive Order 12549 and
that this firm agrees to abide by the rules and conditions set forth therein for any that this firm agrees to abide by the rules and conditions set forth therein for any misrepresentation that misrepresentation that 
would render this certification erroneous, including termination of this Agreement and other remedies would render this certification erroneous, including termination of this Agreement and other remedies 

103



38

Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion and Other Responsibility 
Matters – Lower Tier Covered Transactions

This certification applies to subcontractors, material suppliers, vendors and other lower tier participants.

1. By signing and submitting this proposal, the lower tier participant is providing the certification set out in Exhibit H.
2. The certification, Exhibit G, is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction 

was entered into. If it is later determined that the prospective lower tier participant knowingly rendered an erroneous 
certification, in addition to other remedies available to the Federal Government, the department or agency with which 
this transaction originated may pursue available remedies, including suspension and/or debarment.

3. The prospective lower tier participant shall provide immediate written notice to the person to which the proposal is 
submitted if at any time the prospective lower tier participant learns that is certification was erroneous when submitted 
or has become erroneous by reason of changed circumstances.

4. The terms "covered transaction", "debarred", "suspended", "ineligible", "lower tier covered transaction", "participant", 
"person", "primary covered transaction", "principal", "proposal", and "voluntarily excluded", as used in these 
instructions and the certification, have the meanings set out in the Definitions and Coverage sections of the rules 
implementing Executive Order 12549. You may contact the person to which this person to which proposal is submitted 
for assistance in obtaining a copy of those regulations.

5. The prospective lower tier participant agrees by submitting this proposal/contract that should the proposed covered 
transaction be entered into, it shall not knowingly enter into a lower tier covered transaction with a person/firm who is 
proposed for debarment under 48 CFR part 9, subpart 9.4, debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily 
excluded from participation in this covered transaction unless authorized by the department or agency with which this 
transaction originated.

6. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by submitting this proposal/contract that it will include the clause 
titled “Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion – Lower Tier Covered 
Transaction”, without modification, in all lower tier covered transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered 
transactions.

7. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective participant in lower tier covered 
transaction that is not proposed for debarment under 48 CFR part 9, subpart 9.4, debarred, suspended, ineligible, or 
voluntarily excluded from the covered transactions, unless it knows that the certification is erroneous. A participant may 
decide the method and frequency by which it determines the eligibility of its principals. Each participant may, but is not 
required to, check the List of Parties Excluded from Federal Procurement and Non procurement Programs.

8. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of records in order to render 
in good faith the certification required by this clause. The knowledge and information of a participant is not required to 
exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent person in the ordinary course of business dealings.

9. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 5 of these instructions, if the participant in a covered transaction 
knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is proposed for debarment under 48 CFR part 
9, subpart 9.4, suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction in addition 
to other remedies available to the Federal Government, the department or agency may pursue available remedies, 
including suspension and/or debarment.

Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion—Lower Tier Covered Transactions

(1) The prospective lower tier participant certifies, by submission of this proposal, that neither it nor its principals is 
presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation 
in this transaction by any Federal department or agency.
(2) Where the prospective lower tier participant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this certification, such 
prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal/contract.

transaction be entered into, it shall not knowingly enter into a lower tier covered transaction with a person/firm who is transaction be entered into, it shall not knowingly enter into a lower tier covered transaction with a person/firm who is 
d for debarment under 48 CFR part 9, subpart 9.4, debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily d for debarment under 48 CFR part 9, subpart 9.4, debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily 

excluded from participation in this covered transaction unless authorized by the department or agency with which this excluded from participation in this covered transaction unless authorized by the department or agency with which this 

104



39

EXHIBIT I 

RESERVED

This Page Is Intentionally Blank.

105



40

EXHIBIT J

CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE STATE OF GEORGIA’S 
SEXUAL HARASSMENT PREVENTION POLICY

The State of Georgia promotes respect and dignity and does not tolerate sexual harassment in the workplace. The State is 
committed to providing a workplace and environment free from sexual harassment for its employees and for all persons who 
interact with state government. All State of Georgia employees are expected and required to interact with all persons including 
other employees, SPONSOR, contractors, and customers in a professional manner that contributes to a respectful work 
environment free from sexual harassment. Furthermore, the State of Georgia maintains an expectation that SPONSOR, its 
contractors and their employees and subcontractors will interact with entities of the State of Georgia, their customers, and 
other contractors of the State in a professional manner that contributes to a respectful work environment free from sexual 
harassment.

Pursuant to the State of Georgia’s Statewide Sexual Harassment Prevention Policy (the “Policy”), SPONSOR and all 
contractors who are regularly on State premises or who regularly interact with State personnel must complete sexual 
harassment prevention training on an annual basis.

SPONSOR, including its employees and subcontractors, who have violated the Policy, including but not limited to engaging 
in sexual harassment and/or retaliation may be subject to appropriate corrective action. Such action may include, but is not 
limited to, notification to the employer, removal from State premises, restricted access to State premises and/or personnel, 
termination of contract, and/or other corrective action(s) deemed necessary by the State.

(i) If SPONSOR is an individual who is regularly on State premises or who will regularly interact with State 
personnel, SPONSOR certifies that:

(a) SPONSOR has received, reviewed, and agreed to comply with the State of Georgia’s Statewide 
Sexual Harassment Prevention Policy located at http://doas.ga.gov/human-resources-
administration/board-rules-policy-and-compliance/jointly-issued-statewide-policies/sexual-
harassment-prevention-policy;

(b) SPONSOR has completed sexual harassment prevention training in the last year; or will complete 
the Georgia Department of Administrative Services’ sexual harassment prevention training located 
athttp://doas.ga.gov/human-resources-administration/sexual-harassment-prevention/hr-
professionals/employee-training (scroll down to section for entities without a LMS section) or this 
direct link https://www.youtube.com/embed/NjVt0DDnc2s?rel=0 prior to accessing State premises 
and prior to interacting with State employees; and on an annual basis thereafter; and,

(c) Upon request by the State, SPONSOR will provide documentation substantiating the completion of 
sexual harassment training.

(ii) If SPONSOR has employees and subcontractors that are regularly on State premises or who will regularly 
interact with State personnel, SPONSOR certifies that:

(a) SPONSOR will ensure that such employees and subcontractors have received, reviewed, and agreed 
to comply with the State of Georgia’s Statewide Sexual Harassment Prevention Policy located at 
http://doas.ga.gov/human-resources-administration/board-rules-policy-and-compliance/jointly-
issued-statewide-policies/sexual-harassment-prevention-policy ;

(b) SPONSOR has provided sexual harassment prevention training in the last year to such employees 
and subcontractors and will continue to do so on an annual basis; or SPONSOR will ensure that such 
employees and subcontractors complete the Georgia Department of Administrative Services’ sexual  
harassment  prevention  training  located  at  http://doas.ga.gov/human-resources-

in sexual harassment and/or retaliation may be subject to appropriate corrective in sexual harassment and/or retaliation may be subject to appropriate corrective action. Such action may include, but is not 
limited to, notification to the employer, removal from State premises, restricted access to State premises and/or personnel, limited to, notification to the employer, removal from State premises, restricted access to State premises and/or personnel, 
termination of contract, and/or other corrective action(s) deemed necessary by the Stattermination of contract, and/or other corrective action(s) deemed necessary by the State.e.

106



41

administration/sexual-harassment-prevention/hr-professionals/employee-training (scroll down to 
section for entities without a LMS section) or this direct link 
https://www.youtube.com/embed/NjVt0DDnc2s?rel=0 prior to accessing State premises and prior 
to interacting with State employees; and on an annual basis thereafter; and

(c) Upon request of the State of the Georgia Department of Transportation, SPONSOR will provide 
documentation substantiating such employees and subcontractors’ acknowledgment of the State of 
Georgia’s Statewide Sexual Harassment Prevention Policy and annual completion of sexual 
harassment prevention training.

SPONSOR’s Name

Signature of SPONSOR's Authorized Official

Name of SPONSOR's Authorized Official

Title of SPONSOR’s Authorized Official

Date

AuthorizedAuthorized OfficialOfficial

107



108



109



110



111



112



File Attachments for Item:

12. Awarding of Solicitation 22-36001-001 Ambulance (staff-EMS)

113



114



File Attachments for Item:

13. Awarding of Solicitation 22-36001-002 Ambulance Remount (staff-EMS)

115



116



File Attachments for Item:

14. Appointment to the Region Two Behavioral Health and Developmental Disabilities Planning Board 

(staff-CC)

117



Applicants for Region Two Behavioral Health and Developmental Disabilities Planning Board                                                                 

7/12/2022

NAME ADDRESS DISTRICT

CONSUMER OF 

DISABILITY SERVICES 

OR FAMILY MEMBER OF 

A CONSUMER OR 

ADVOCATE FOR 

DISABILITY SERVICES 

OR LOCAL LEADER OR 

BUSINESS PERSON 

WITH INTEREST IN 

MENTAL HEALTH, 

DEVELOPMENTAL 

DISABILITIES AND 

ADDICTIVE DISEASES

Gloria C Morrell 634 Rockville Springs Drive 3 Yes

Page 1 of 1

118



PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 

706-485-5826 

www.putnamcountyga.us 
 

 

N O T I C E 
 

The Putnam County Board of Commissioners is seeking individuals interested 
in serving on the Region Two Behavioral Health and Developmental 

Disabilities Planning Board.  Qualified individuals shall be a consumer of 
disability services, a family member of a consumer, an advocate for 

disability services or a local leader or business person with an interest in 
mental health, developmental disabilities and addictive diseases.  This board 

includes forty-one (41) counties and meets every other month at various 

locations within the region.  The term of the members of the regional 
planning board shall be for a period of three years.  A member may serve no 

more than two full consecutive terms.  
 

Interested persons should submit an application to the Putnam County 
Board of Commissioners, 117 Putnam Drive, Suite A, Eatonton, Georgia 

31024. Applications will be accepted until the position is filled.  The board 
application form can be found on the county website at 

www.putnamcountyga.us (in the “How Do I…” or “Forms & Documents” 
sections) or by calling 706-485-5826. 

 
 

05/27/2021 & 06/03/2021 
 

 

119

http://www.putnamcountyga.us/


120



1 
 

Gloria C, Morrell 
634 Rockville Springs Drive 

Eatonton, GA. 31024 
Daytime phone: 706-485-7037 

Cell Phone:  
Email:  

    Georgia College email: gmorrell@gcsu.edu  
 
 
 

  
Work 
Experience: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Georgia College and State University                                                       8/01/2015- 
                                                                                                                       current  
Part-time Nursing faculty- Community Health Nursing 
  

 Provides public health knowledge, skills and real-life experiences addressing the needs 
and problems of communities. Aggregates and focuses care on varied communities, 
vulnerable populations, and differing health inequalities with the nursing students. 

  
  

 
 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 
Atlanta, GA US 
 
 
 

Detail: November 1 to December 31, 2014, CDC IMS Response Rotation 

Assignment, CDC IMS Ebola Medical Care Task Force, Domestic Health Care 

Infection Control Team, CDC IMS Ebola Infection Control Specialist 

Educational and Training Services Branch  
Division of Scientific Education and Professional Development Center for 
Surveillance, Epidemiology and Laboratory Services  
 
Provided technical assistance and coaching to CDC programs for continuing nursing 
education accreditation standards, policies and practices. 
 
 
 
Surveillance Branch 
Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion (DHQP) 
National Center for emerging and Zoonotic Diseases 
Federal Status: Nurse Consultant 
 
 
Provided infection prevention (IP) and nursing-related consultation and technical 
assistance regarding surveillance for healthcare-associated infections (HAI) using the 
National Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN) reporting system with a user base of over 
5000 facilities across the US.  Liaison to users, institutions and groups for questions and 
training related to the NHSN application.  Serves as subject matter expert for clinical and 
technical inquiries related to application of CDC’s healthcare-associated infection (HAI) 
definitions and criteria to IPs, public health personnel, epidemiologists, physicians, national 
partners and groups.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

2/2009- 
5/30/2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

121



2 
 

 
 
Northside Hospital, Atlanta, GA. 
1000 Johnson Ferry Road NE 
Atlanta, GA   30342 United States 
 
Coordinator of Infection Prevention and Control Department 
Infection Control High-Risk Coordinator 
Infection Control Nurse 
Education Department Staff Development Instructor 
 
 
Administered a comprehensive infection prevention and control program/ staff development 
for a large, metropolitan hospital system. 
  

 
 
8/1981-
8/2013 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Peachford Hospital, Atlanta, Georgia    
2151 Peachford Road                                                                                                
Atlanta, Georgia 30338 
 
                                                                                                                                     
                                                                                                                                                
Staff and charge nurse on the Addictive Disease and Detoxification units. In addition to 
patient care, duties included family and patient teaching and nurse preceptor for new 
employees. 
 
 

7/1979- 
8/1981 

 

 
  

Florida Department of Health, Duval County Health Department 
Primary Care Services 
Jacksonville, FL   US  

2/1977 - 
04/1979  

Public Health Nurse and Team leader 
 
Responsibilities as public health nurse, clinic administration and organization, home visits, 
case finding, and referral services.  
Trained as adult nurse practitioner. Provided patient and family education, general 
educational presentations and written materials. 
 

 

 

 
Education:  

 
Brenau University Gainesville, GA US 
Master of Science in Nursing Education 5/2008 
Course of study included: Learning theory/ teaching methods, curriculum theory and design, 
educational technology, evaluation of teaching and learning processes and teaching across the 
lifespan. 
 
University of North Florida Jacksonville, FL US 
Master in Allied Health Services 06/1979 
 
 
University of Florida Gainesville, FL US 
Bachelor of Science in Nursing, FL US 
Signa Theta Tau Nursing Honorary Society 
 
Certified in Infection Control and Prevention (CIC)  
By the Certification Board of Infection Control & Epidemiology through 2017 
  

Professional activities:  

Officer for the Association for Infection Prevention and Control (APIC), Atlanta including past 

president, and secretary. Served on several national committees for National APIC, including the 

Bioterrorism and Pediatric committees.    

122



3 
 

Lecturer: Lectured on the local, state, national and international levels as subject matter expert for 

infection control and prevention including local, state, national and international meetings including APIC 

and State Hospital Epidemiology Association (SHEA) meetings and Georgia Infection Prevention Network 

(GIPN) , visited over 20 states and multiple hospital systems as CDC NHSN representative and infection 

control subject matter expert. . 

Georgia Hospital Association (GHA) lecturer on the topics of infection control, 2008-2009.  

Lectured at schools of nursing at Georgia State University and Brenau University on the topics of nursing, 

infection control and epidemiology and the careers of nursing and human lactation 

Lectured at State and Gwinnett County School Health Nursing Conferences about infection control and 

the schools  

External reviewer: SHEA’s Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology (ICHE) participated as invited 
external reviewer invitation for ICHE: 9/20/14 Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology 

Ref.: MS no. 34847   

 
Professional  
Publications: 

 
 Walker, TA, Chiller, T, Dignani, CE, Smith, R, Morrell, GC, et all, Abstract pending for the CDC 
Epidemiology Intelligence Service Conference, April 20-23, 2015.  " Outbreak of Rhizopus surgical site 
infections —Argentina, 2005–2014" 
 
Mendicino, N, Morrell, G. and Hernandez, S. (2014) APIC Text of Infection Control and Epidemiology, 

Chapter 42, 4th Edition, Association for Professionals in Infection Control and Epidemiology, Inc.  

Hebden, JN, Antilla, A, Allen-Bridson, K, Morrell, GC, Wright, MO,  Horan,TC. Short communication: 
Healthcare-associated infections studies project: An American Journal of Infection Control and National 
Healthcare Safety Network data quality collaboration—LabID Clostridium Difficile event 2013. October 
2013, AJIC 41 (10) pp.916-917. 
 
Wright, MA, Hebden, JN, Allen-Bridson, K, Morrell, GC, Horan,TC. Blue Ribbon Award Abstract: 
Assessment of the application of NHSN surveillance definitions to clinical case studies: opportunities for 
improvement and Surgical Site Infection Following Preoperative Skin Preparation in a Multi-Hospital 
System, accepted for presentation at the APIC 2013 Annual Conference June 8 - 10 in Ft. Lauderdale, 
FL. 

Gaur, AH, Miller, MR, Gao, C, Rosenberg, C, Morrell, GC, Coffin, SE. Evaluating Application of 
theNational Healthcare Safety Network, Central Line-Associated Bloodstream Infection 
Surveillance Definition — A survey of pediatric intensive care and hematology/oncology units. 
Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. Jul  2013;34(7):663-670. 

 
Dudeck, MA, Antilla, A, Peterson, KD, Bridson, KA, Morrell, G, Pollock, DA, Edwards, JR. National 
Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN) Report, Data summary for 2011, Device Associated Module for 
2011, Issued April, Am J Infect Control 2013. 41 (4) 286-300. 

Dudeck, MA, Horan, TC, Peterson, KD, Bridson, KA, Morrell, G, Pollock, DA, Edwards, JR. National 
Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN) Report, Data summary for 2010, Device Associated Module for 
2010, Issued December, Am J Infect Control  2011. 39 (10) 798-816.  

 Wright, MA, Hebden, JN, Allen-Bridson, K, Morrell, GC, Horan,TC. AJIC- CDC NHSN Case Studies for 
AJIC Supplement and CEUs, published to AJIC, June 2012. 

Wright, MA, Hebden, JN, Allen-Bridson, K, Morrell, GC, Horan,TC. Short communication:  Healthcare-
Associated Infections Studies Project: An American Journal of Infection Control and National Healthcare 
Safety Network Data Quality Collaboration Case Study 6. August 2011, AJIC 39 (6) pp. 515-516. 

123



4 
 

Wright, MA, Hebden, JN, Allen-Bridson, K, Morrell, GC, et al.  Abstract: A preliminary assessment of the 
National Data quality collaboration: The Case Studies, June 2011, AJIC Vol 39 (5) PP E212-E213. 

Dudeck, MA, Horan, TC, Peterson, KD, Morrell, GC, Pollack, DA, Edwards, JR. National Healthcare 
Safety Network (NHSN) Report, Data summary for 2009, Device Associated Module, Issued June 2011. 
Am J Infect Control 2011; 39: 349-67.  

Allen-Bridson, K, Morrell, GC, Horan TC. Hospital Epidemiology and Infection Control, Fourth Edition, 
Glen Mayhall MD, ed. Chapter 87 of Surveillance of Healthcare-Associated Infections, Lippincott 
Williams & Wilkins, May, 2011. 

Wright, MA, Hebden, JN, Allen-Bridson, K, Morrell, GC, Horan,TC. Short communication:  Healthcare-
Associated Infections Studies Project: An American Journal of Infection Control and National Healthcare 
Safety Network Data Quality Collaboration Case Study 5. June 2011, AJIC 39 (5) pp. 431-432. 

Wright, MA, Hebden, JN, Allen-Bridson, K, Morrell, GC, Horan,TC. Short communication:  Healthcare-
Associated Infections Studies Project: An American Journal of Infection Control and National Healthcare 
Safety Network Data Quality Collaboration Case Study 4. Feb 2011, AJIC 39 (1) pp. 64-65. 

Wright, MA, Hebden, JN, Allen-Bridson, K, Morrell, GC, Horan, TC. Short communication:  Healthcare-
Associated Infections Studies Project: An American Journal of Infection Control and National Healthcare 

Safety Network Data Quality Collaboration Case Study 3. Oct 2010, AJIC 38 (8) pp. 642-643. 

Wright, MA, Hebden, JN, Allen-Bridson, K, Morrell, GC, Horan, TC. Short communication:  Healthcare-
Associated Infections Studies Project: An American Journal of Infection Control and National Healthcare 

Safety Network Data Quality Collaboration Case Study 2. Sept 2010, AJIC 38 (7) pp. 557-558 

Wright, MA, Hebden, JN, Allen-Bridson, K, Morrell, GC, Horan, TC. Healthcare-associated Infections 
Studies Project: An American Journal of Infection Control and National Healthcare Safety Network Data 

Quality Collaboration Case Study 1. June2010, AJIC 38 (5) pp. 416-418. 

Hocevar, S, Horan, T, Morrell, G, Iwamoto, M, Edwards, J, Lessa, F. Rates and Pathogen Profile of 
Device-Associated Infections among Neonatal Intensive Care Unit Patients, Data from the NHSN 2006-
2008. Poster presentation for The Fifth Decennial International Conference on Healthcare-Associated 
Infection, March, 2010, Atlanta, GA.  

Iwamoto, M, Edwards, J, Horan, T, Morrell, G, Lessa, F, Fridkin, S. Healthcare-associated infections 
among children, National Healthcare Safety Network, 2006-2008. Oral presentation for The Fifth 
Decennial International Conference on Healthcare-Associated Infection, March, 2010, Atlanta, GA.  

Magill, SA, Hellinger, W, Cohen, J, Kay, R, Morrell, G, et al. Prevalence of Healthcare-Associated 
Infections in Acute Care Hospitals.  Oral presentation for The Fifth Decennial International Conference 
on Healthcare-Associated Infection, March, 2010, Atlanta, GA.  

Morrell, G, Horan, T, Edwards, J, Fridkin, Magill, S.  Central Line-Associated Bloodstream Infections in 
Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant and Hematology/Oncology Units: Incidence and Pathogens. Poster 
presentation for The Fifth Decennial International Conference on Healthcare-Associated Infection, 
March, 2010, Atlanta, GA.  

Edwards, JR, Peterson, KD, Mu, Y, Banerjee, S, Bridson, KA, Morrell, GC, Dudeck, MA, Pollock, DA, 
Horan, TC. National Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN) Report, Data summary for 2006-2008, Issued 
Dec 2009 2011. Am J Infect Control 2009; 37: 783-805.   

Moore, D., Morrell, G. and Biel, M. (2009) APIC Text of Infection Control and  

Epidemiology, Chapter 38, Neonate, 3rd Edition.  Association for Professionals in Infection  

Control and Epidemiology, Inc.  

Bennett, G., Morrell, G.C., Infection Control Manual for Hospitals, Second Edition (2006). HC Pro 
Publishers, 300pp.  

124



5 
 

Bennett, G., Morrell, GC. Infection Control Manual for Hospitals, (2004) HC Pro Publishers, 300pp. 

Morrell, G.C.  Interview:  Hospital Infection Control, “CDC urges more Hospitals to adopt formal 
prevention policies for Group B Strep.” December 2000. 

Morrell, G.C. Interview: Briefings on Infection Control, “Annual Hospital Influenza Program.”   November 

2008, vol. 6, No.11. 

Morrell, G.C. Interview: Briefings on Infection Control, “Influenza Vaccine and the Elderly.”  December 
2008. 

S. Willard, G. Morrell, J. Kasow, M. Waters, S.E. Webster. (2005).  

 APIC International Conference, Baltimore, MD. Abstract: Calling all “I-COPS”: bone marrow transplant 
unit’s vancomycin-resistant enterococcus (VRE) outbreak arrested using infection control “cops”.  

Morrell, G.C., Fetter, J.M. Abstract: 

Infection Control Impacts Bone Marrow Unit Transplant (BMTU) Renovation. AJIC, April 1998, p. 207 

 

 

 

125



3 year term                                                                        Last Updated 7/12/2018 

Appointed by BOC 

 

 

REGION TWO BHDD PLANNING BOARD 

(Georgia Department of Behavioral Health and Developmental Disabilities) 

(Putnam County appointment) 

 

 

 

MEMBER                    TERM EXPIRES 

 

William O. Lombard       6/30/2021 

120 Okoni Lane 

Eatonton, GA 31024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

126


	Top
	Item #6.	2022-07-19 BOC Conditional Use-Rocker
	Rocker letter withdraw without prejudice
	Rocker Staff Recommendations
	Rocker 7-7-22 Map
	Rocker Cond. Use Application_Redacted
	Rocker 072015LV
	Rocker Future Land Use 072015

	Item #7.	2022-07-19 BOC Rezoning-Vargo
	Vargo Staff Recommendations
	Vargo 7-7-22 Map
	Vargo rezoning application_Redacted
	Vargo 115B080,081082,083LV
	Vargo Future Land Use 115B080,081082,083

	Item #8.	2022-07-19 BOC Code Changes-28&32
	Chapter 28 and 32 062122

	Item #10.	2022-07-19 BOC Consent Agenda
	DRAFT 07-01-2022 BOC Minutes
	DRAFT 07-11-2022 BOC Budget Work Session Minutes
	DRAFT 07-12-2022 BOC Budget Work Session Minutes
	Transit Operating Agreement flattened and rotated

	Item #12.	2022-07-19 BOC 22-36001-001
	22-36001-001 Bid Tab Sheet-signed

	Item #13.	2022-07-19 BOC 22-36001-002
	22-36001-002 Bid Tab Sheet-signed

	Item #14.	2022-07-19 BOC BHDD
	Chart of Applicants for Region Two BHDD Planning Board
	Region Two BHDD Planning Board-regular term
	Region Two BHDDP Board Application-Gloria Morrell_Redacted
	GMorrell__resume 2022_Redacted
	Region Two BHDD Planning Board_Redacted

	Bottom

